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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of
China New Economy Fund Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2019 (the “Year").

The Company is a closed-ended investment company established on
1 February 2010. By investing substantially in both private and public
enterprises within a diversified portfolio supported by the new economies
of Greater China, the Company is devoted to achieving long-term capital
appreciation for professional investors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

During the Year, the Company maintained a long-term investment
strategy in both public and private equity markets. The Company held
seventeen equity securities listed in Hong Kong, two equity securities listed
in Australia and three private equities as of 31 December 2019. One of our
major investments is in the financial services sector focusing on the Hong
Kong market. The Company reported net loss attributable to shareholders
of HK$34,070,940 during the Year, which consisted of the net loss in
fair value of HK$25,920,857 taken on the investment positions in the
portfolio.

The net asset value of the Company decreased during the Year
alongside with the slowdown in the Chinese economy and the rising
volatility of the Hong Kong stock market. As at 31 December 2019,
the Company reported an audited net asset value of approximately
HK$0.04 per share. The net loss is mainly attributable to both net
realised loss of HK$60,326,270 (listed securities: loss of HK$22,826,270;
unlisted securities: loss of HK$37,500,000) and net unrealised gain
of HK$34,405,413 (listed securities: gain of HK$5,575,413; unlisted
securities: gain of HK$28,830,000) on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as a result of recent Hong Kong stock market volatility. The
Company will continue to monitor investments cautiously due to recent
uncertain market conditions.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

In the 2019 financial year, even though China-United States trade war
seems cooling down during the year, several natural disasters and serious
diseases appeared in China, all of them made the economy ups and
downs all over the year. The above gave a big impact to economy and the
slowdown of gross domestic product (“GDP"”) growth. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics, China’s GDP recorded an increase of 6.1%
in 2019, met the expected target of 6%—6.5% by the China Government
in the beginning of 2019. The government has indicated that the national
economy in 2019 has sustained the general stable momentum by pursuing
progress while ensuring stability. However, the global economic and
trade growth is slowing down, the instability sources and risk factors
are increasing, the structural, systematic and cyclical problems at home
are intertwined and the economy is facing with mounting downward
pressure.

Market confidence was generally impacted by uncertainty on
macroeconomic outlook and multiple protests in different countries for
various issues led the global stock market volatile. The securities markets in
China and Hong Kong have been full of ups and downs throughout 2019.
The benchmark Shanghai Composite Index and Hang Seng Index raised
by 22.3% and 9.07% in 2019 respectively. During the Year, the Company
adopted a timely and appropriate investment approach in response to
the volatile market sentiment and complicated government policies. The
Company will continue to implement its comprehensive risk management
strategy with an aim to achieve growing returns on investments for our
shareholders.
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As global economy and politics are facing more risks, although the China-
United States trade war seems to be cooled down after China‘s Vice
Premier Liu He and United States President Donald Trump signed the
China-United States Phase One trade deal in Washington DC on 15th
January this year, lots of uncertainties remain in different aspects between
both of them. In the second half year of 2019, the global and domestic
economy slowed down its growth not only due to ongoing China-United
States trade argument, but lots of social movements happened all over the
world, especially in Hong Kong. Since June 2019, protests against Hong
Kong extradition bill became serious, due to these complicated political
factors, it brought a deep impact to the domestic economy. The Company
will exercise risk management control to prevent the potential risk to
the portfolio. The US Federal Reserve reduced interest rate for 3 times to
interest rate target between 1.50% to 1.75% before the end of 2019.
The Company expects that the US Federal Reserve will be more cautious to
raise interest rate regarding its inflation rate and expects no hike by the end
of 2020. In addition, by concluding different aspects of factors, we predict
the China 2020 GDP growth target at around 6% to 6.1%. However,
since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19") in
December 2019, the COVID-19 spreaded to all provinces of China and all
over the world. It may deeply decay the economic growth like Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) epidemic in 2003. Therefore, the Company
remains cautious on the prospects of securities market in China and Hong
Kong.

The main focus of the Company is to invest in listed securities in short to
medium terms and will continue to seek opportunities to invest in listed
companies with high potential. During the Year, the Company has further
invested in several listed companies in Hong Kong and the largest one
is Kin Pang Holdings Limited (1722.HK) which is principally engaged in
provision of building and ancillary services.

Even though the Company had no new private equity investment in last
year, the Company believes private equity investments will diversify the
risk of investments and will potentially bring greater return in long terms
with the upcoming reform alongside with listed investments in portfolio. In
the near future, the Company will continue to look for further investment
opportunities in private equities focusing on health care (including High-
Technology and Online Medical) as well as telecommunication (including
Internet of Things) sectors.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

The Company is well aware of the challenges ahead and explores ARF D BHEIARKHIE  TIHEEZTED
investment opportunities emerging from the sectors benefiting from the — FFEIASEE AR 1T 2 I EHIB - RN B 4
economic transformation in China. The Company will continue to deploy /& Z8E &1 %1 K P (R H IR B RS - W )88
an investment strategy focusing on Greater China and closely monitor &2 MIBNES) < BERFINEERERE
changes in the global markets. With our professional investment and BREEEB > RMBEELOIEEEENREHK
risk management team, we are confident to capture valuable investment & - NERSEEFEABAENBEZL AR
opportunities to obtain a substantial net asset appreciation and maximise 17789 J% 5 %5 5K G A F 25 ©

profit for our shareholders.

Gu Xu R
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer TEFTEAA
Hong Kong, 30 March 2020 AA 202063 A30R
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INVESTMENT REVIEW

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company held twenty-two investments as of 31 December 2019,

comprising seventeen equity securities listed in Hong Kong, two equity

securities listed in Australia, two private equities in Hong Kong and one

private equity in the British Virgin Islands.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 21.12 of the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company discloses its ten largest

investments and all individual investments with value exceeding 5% of the

Company’s gross assets with brief description of the investee companies as

follows:

At 31 December 2019

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

B E S W AT

RELE

AARM2019F 12 A3THEFEA -+ 28K
B ERRETLEESLTHESES M
RN E e EZRES  MIERESNALER
BER—ENABRIHESNLERE -

REEEHEXIMARARFZH EHHRA
(TEMHRA) FE21 12T AR E - AAF]
BRETESARERAMBEREEROEAR
BIREES% WIRE  ERMREARNER
T

20199128 31H

L EEEE &

Proportion Netasset/  Dividend % of
of (liability)  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market loss tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
k&R AT RMREE ARRE
FB2gT  REAR BB EGEE/ B/  HBEE
fiREAR AR ALY LUEL- S -v Nt B mE AERER  (RR)FE  EURE BAt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
tiEa)) (F3t2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
T TiET Thn TiEx
() Kin Pang Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 49,820,000 4.98% 19,852 10,263 (9,589) MOP11.40 - 1424
ordinary shares of million
HKS0.01 each
BEERARAR REHE 49,820,0007% Ik
SHEE 11,400,000
001ATZ
(b} Hanvey Group Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 49,710,000 4.97% 9,830 8,948 (832) HK$3.13 - 1241
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
EREEERARAT RERS 49,710,0008% 3,130,000
BRERE BT
001872

FETEEREBR AR / F1]R 2019



10

Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R WA

Proportion Netasset/  Dividend % of
of (liability)  received/ gross
Particularof investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market loss tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
Exf ARE RAEE AT
fiiseRfT  RELF BB EGEE/ B/ agE
FiRELAEH ERALEY kiFEE  ERLAH A& e AEREE (BEFE EUERS BAl
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Bsx1) (F3t2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEnL Tin TiEL Tin
() Power Financial Group Limited Bermuda 75,420,000 2.11% 15,159 6,863 (8,296) HK$39.75 - 952
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
EREHEEARAT BRE 75,420,0001% 39,750,000
BRERE BT
00137
(d)  Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited ~ Bermuda 22,412,000 1.95% 6,697 4953 (1,744) RMB71.08 - 6.87
ordinary shares of million
HKS$0.1 each
e EXERARAT BRE 22,412,0001% ARE
BRER 71,080,000
0BT
(&) Town Health International Medical Bermuda 29,114,000 0.39% 41,835 3173 (38,662) HK$15.66 73 440
Group Limited ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
REAREEEEERAT BRE 29,114, 0001% 15,660,000
BRER BT
001372
(f) InvesTech Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 15,216,000 1.08% 3,167 2,754 (413) RMB7.86 - 382
ordinary shares of million
US0.02 each
A ERERRA REES 15.216,0001% A%
sRAE 7,860,007
002%72
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Listed Equity Securities — Australia

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S BT

i a a A - N

Proportion Netasset/  Dividend % of
of (liability)  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market loss tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
EEH BER AT REEE FERRF
FEERT  RELR AR EfREE/ B/  HBEE
FRELNRER AL Rt  EXLA RE [ BB (BR)FE RURR BAt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(KizE1) ik
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn TER TERL T
(99 Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding ~ Australia 803,000 0.19% 3,91 2,219 (1,742) RMB5.40 - 3.08
Group Limited ordinary shares million
RIARRRERETERAT 2 803,000/% ARH
Lk 5,400,000 7T
() Crater Gold Mining Limited Australia 35,000,000 2.85% 2,669 2,105 (564) AUD(0.03) - 292
ordinary shares million
Bl 35,000,000 (30,000
ik A
Private Equity — British Virgin Islands HRERE-ZBEXHE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market loss tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
BAH 2} £ ARE REEE HRRE
FE2gT  REAR RER EitEE B/  #EE
fiREARER A IS LUES- S -v St A i | BE  RURE BAk
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Mzt1) (Mzk2)
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T T TiEr
(i) Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 48 shares of 15.53% 42,799 17133 (25,666) HK$23.53 - 23.77
USD1 each million
SHEREERRAR ABRUES 48f% 23,530,000
BRAE BT
%712
Bt

FETEEREBR AR / F1]R 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R WA

Private Equity — Hong Kong RERE-FE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market loss tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
ExH oRR ARAE REAEE AT
fiseRfT  RELA AER EiFEE B/ hgE
FrRENREMH Bl by Ry BRI A& e | BE EUWRE BAl
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(BsE1) (B3E2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEn ThT TR ThT
() Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 6,530 (12,470) HK$14.46 - 9.06
million
EARBERAR 0 37,0001 14,460,000
BT
At 31 December 2018 7A2018%F 12 A31H
Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong LHRmEE-EE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theyear  Company
kR oRa ERAE REAEE HALT
frsckfT  RELH AER it B/ a5g
e PEEL: HME IS RkiyEE B B nE hE/(FB)  EETE EURS BAlL
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(Bi33) (B3E2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn ThI T ThT
Kin Pang Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 34,980,000 3.50% 16,314 14,867 (1,447) MOP7.33 - 16.21
ordinary million
shares of
HK$0.01 each
BEERERAR RERS 34,980,000 gk
BRER 7,330,0007
001%7T2
Power Financial Group Limited Bermuda 126,400,000 4.54% 27,563 10,744 (16,819) HK$65.55 - 17
(Formerly known as Jun Yang Financial ordinary million
Holdings Limited) shares of
HK$0.01 each
EFeREEARAT BRE 126,400,000% 65,550,000
(FIREREBERARAF) BRERE BT
001372
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S BT

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particularof  investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theyear  Company
EEH B AhE RAEE  ARRF
fBERT  RELA by 3] FEfh Bl hgE
fRELAA%R AR LS Ry AR B wE RE/ (58 BEFE EURE Aot
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(B33) (B3x2)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Thn TEL TEL TEL
Evershine Group Holdings Limited Hong Kong 4,047,000 0.22% 5337 5,099 (238) HK$0.31 - 5.56
ordinary shares million
AESEERERAR B 4,047,000% 310,000
LBk BT
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited The Cayman slands 25,960,000 2.60% 8,672 4543 (4129 HK$2.00 - 4.95
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
EREFZRARAT FekE 25,960,000% 2,000,000
BREG B
001812
China Construction Bank Corporation PRC 520,000 - 3317 3,354 37 RMB4.11 - 3.66
ordinary shares of million
RMB1 each
HERRRIRNARAT hE 520,000 ARE
BREE 41100007
ANRE1TLZ
China Life Insurance Company Limited PRC 194,000 - 3194 3228 34 RIMBO.06 - 352
ordinary shares of million
RMBT each
TEASRBROARAT i 194,000% ARE
BREE 60,0007
AR
Town Health International Medical Group Bermuda 29,114,000 0.39% 41,835 3,144 (38,691) HK$16.03 - 34
Limited ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
REAREESEERAA BRE 29,114,000 16,030,000
5REE BT
0018712
Earthasia International Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 500,000 0.12% 1,750 2,385 635 HKS0.16 - 260
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
RORREARERERAT REES 500,000 160,000
BREE B
00182

FETEEREBR AR / F1]R 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R WA

Private Equity - British Virgin Islands

RERE-RBELEHS

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  Unrealised tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value loss Company year  Company
k5 recognised EAE REAEE HALT
FBCET FREAR BB it B/ BgE
FrREARAR AL kit  EALA RE B AERER  EERE EBURR BAt
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(KizE3) (Frk2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000
TEn TERL TEn TARL
Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin 48 shares of 1752% 42,799 24,607 (18,192) HK$26.92 - 26.34
(Formerly known as Morris Global Group Islands USD1 each million
Limited)
SREREEERAT ZERAHE BEEREE 26,920,000
(FIREERARSERRAR) (B U BT
Private Equity — Hong Kong RERE-FE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  Unrealised tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value loss Company year  Company
k5 recognised ARF RAEE AT
FRERT FRELR BB ELEE Bk/  #EE
FiREARER A IS Ritits  EXLA B W RERER BE  RURS BAk
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(Mzt3) (Mzk2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tk T T
Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 7270 (11,730) HK$7.19 - 7.93
million
EAMBERLR (30 37,000 Bt 7,190,000
BT

Notes:

(1) The unrealised loss represented the changes in fair value of the respective investments (1)  KRERGIBIEAFESERE Y AT EEE -

during the Year.

2) The calculation of net asset/(liability) attributable to the Company is based on the latest — (2) ARREIEEE/(BARE)FEDNRBESERENSE

published interim/annual reports of the respective investments at the end of each

reporting period.

BERARAHBE SR ADRRE FRAE -

3) The unrealised gain/(loss) represented the changes in fair value of the respective (3) RERUW R (BE)EEHZE2018F 128318 ILE
investments during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A brief description of the business, financial performance and prospect of

the investments is as follows:

(a)

Kin Pang Holdings Limited (“Kin Pang”) is principally engaged in
the provision of building and ancillary services. The audited profit
attributable to shareholders of Kin Pang for the financial year ended
31 December 2019 was approximately MOP14,242,000 and the
audited net assets attributable to shareholders of Kin Pang as at
31 December 2019 was approximately MOP228,922,000. Due to
the outbreak of COVID-19, Kin Pang expects that may slow down
market development in Hong Kong until the situation resumes
relatively stable. Progress of the projects in Macau has been
extended due to shortage of workers. The tenders from both public
and private sectors may be postponed or suspended. It will lead less
projects awarded during 2020 and may have negative impact on Kin
Pang’s financial performance. The fair value of the investment in Kin
Pang is based on quoted market bid prices.

Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (“Hanvey Group”) is principally
engaged in the design and development, manufacturing and
distribution of watch products. The unaudited loss attributable
to shareholders of Hanvey Group for the financial year ended
31 December 2019 was approximately HK$14,548,000 and the
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Hanvey Group
as at 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$62,977,000.
Hanvey Group intends to continue focusing on the core business,
take efforts in strengthening the product design and development
capability in order to maximise the long term returns of its
shareholders. Hanvey Group will consider the opportunities
associated with the COVID-19 global outbreak and explore actively
while cautiously what the Hanvey Group is capable of doing to
combat this global incident. The fair value of the investment in
Hanvey Group is based on quoted market bid prices.

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”) is principally
engaged in financial services businesses. The unaudited profit
attributable to shareholders of Power Financial for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 was approximately HK$2,957,000 and the
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Power Financial
as at 30 June 2019 was approximately HK$1,466,681,000. Power
Financial will target for high yield bonds with short to medium
term maturities that serve as a stable and fixed income base. Thus,
Power Financial will be more prudent in the allocation of resources
to identify and seize appropriate securities/fund/bond investment
opportunities. The fair value of the investment in Power Financial is
based on quoted market bid prices.

REBHBZFEH

I EREEE

CHBRBMASOEREE

LU

(a)

RISERABR AR (2] T2t EE
HEREREER - ZIEREEZ2019
F12 A31 BIE B FE R EEZ )
47 53R P85 14,242,000 7 - i 2 BB AR R
M2019F 12 A31HZ BIhEBEZREAE
SFEY) AR 228,922,000 7T ° ARE
ZECOVID-19 » ZSTEsr B AN MIZEE
AR IE EEF 2 MERLEE - A

RITARBR RFIEEMNEREDTE -
KERERLERMFANBIRHSHEES

iz BEH20200FRENWIEBRD
EHEZBNMBRREETNZE -
REBRENRFEDSERTISRE

sty
E o
Ean

EEEBRZERERAR ([EEEE]) X
ENERTRAE HERSHEFEE
b BEEBREEZE2019F12 A31
HIEMBEFENEERCEZEBROR
14,548,000 7% 7T} 18 18 &£ B iR R 7 2019
F12A31 BEEREEZEEFENR
62,977,000 T - HIEEEBESE S )T
PR ETS - B0 Bl E M R Roinsg
Mg LMARREHREANKED
o EHEEEBEFEHECOVID-192IE
BEBMOKETRBRERERREESEE
FEHE — 2RSS M RIS - NE
FEEBERENQAFEDNERMISRET

s
H o
7t

ERemEEERAR ((HRSR)) £
ENEEMBREES - EEERKRFE
220196 A30 B IE/NE A E(IRR&E
% R4 52,957,000/ 7T - MRS Bl
AR 20194 6 A 30 B 2 EIE R T
BEFEHH1,466,681,00078 7T © HEE
cRBHEEPEEREERERER
MEEWARER - Bt #EESREE
MEESEER  UHEERICEEE W
%#/%@/F#&E%®o#%ﬁ%
BMEEN RN FEDNERTSRETE

FEIFTEEIRER/R AR / Fk 2019

15



16

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited (“Century Ginwa") is a Hong
Kong-based investment holding company principally engaged in
store operation. Century Ginwa operates through two segments.
Department Stores and Shopping Malls segment operates five
department stores and a shopping mall. Supermarkets segment
operates seven supermarkets. Century Ginwa mainly operates
businesses in the west regions of China. The unaudited loss
attributable to shareholders of Century Ginwa for the six months
ended 30 September 2019 was approximately RMB289,733,000
and the unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of
Century Ginwa as at 30 September 2019 was approximately
RMB3,645,081,000. Century Ginwa will make full use of the
successful practice and experience, integrate and optimise existing
businesses and utilise various forms including light asset output,
management output and goodwill output to increase the coverage
of second-tier cities in Shaanxi to achieve healthy growth of scale.
The fair value of the investment in Century Ginwa is based on quoted
market bid prices.

Town Health International Medical Group Limited (“Town Health"”)
is principally engaged in the provision of healthcare and dental
services, managed care business and beauty and cosmetic medicine
business. The audited loss attributable to shareholders of Town
Health for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$8,414,000 and the audited net assets attributable
to shareholders of Town Health as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$4,015,547,000. The trading of shares of Town
Health has been suspended since 27 November 2017. Business of
Town Health is anticipated to be adversely impacted in the short-
term, and the results for the first half of the year was dragged
down by COVID-19 global outbreak. After the outbreak is over,
Town Health expects medical demand will be gradually released,
the demand for quality medical services is always with high rigidity
and expects to maintain a steady development. The fair value of the
investment in Town Health is based on valuation by independent
valuer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech”), is an investment
holding company principally engaged in the provision of
network system integration including the provision of network
infrastructure solutions, network professional services and
mobile internet software of mobile office automation software
business, the network equipment rental business, the trading
of telecommunications equipment and money lending business.
The audited loss attributable to shareholders of InvesTech for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB21,096,000 and the audited net assets attributable
to shareholders of InvesTech as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately RMB728,093,000. InvesTech will develop and
upgrade its mobile office automation (the “OA") software
continuously, actively explore new business application and
solutions, and enhance its competitiveness and accelerate the
distribution channel of OA software. The fair value of the investment
in InvesTech is based on quoted market bid prices.

Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding Group Limited (“Dongfang
Modern”) is a holding company which carries on business of
cultivation and sales of navel oranges, pomelos, tangerines and
camellia located in the Ganzhou in China. The audited profit
attributable to shareholders of Dongfang Modern for the financial
year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately RMB405,176,000
and the audited net assets attributable to shareholders of
Dongfang Modern as at 31 December 2018 was approximately
RMB2,843,463,000. The trading of shares of Dongfang Modern has
been suspended since 11 June 2019. Chinese consumption of citrus
products and camellia continue to increase. Dongfang Modern has
implemented measures to expand production through increasing
plantation yield and efficiency, as well as improving fruit quality.
The fair value of the investment in Dongfang Modern is based on
valuation by independent valuer.

Crater Gold Mining Limited (”Crater Gold Mining”) is a company
engaged in producing gold and developing gold and base metal
projects in Papua New Guinea and Australia. The unaudited loss
attributable to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining for the six months
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately AUD2,515,356
and the unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of
Crater Gold Mining as at 31 December 2019 was approximately
AUD1,022,537. Crater Gold Mining targets transformational
increase in gold resources. Crater Gold Mining drills to increase
epithermal gold resources to multi million ounces to plan larger
scale gold production. Drilling outside existing resources targets
confirmation of central zone of copper-gold porphyry. The fair value
of the investment in Grater Gold Mining is based on quoted market
bid prices.
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(i) Gransing Financial Group Limited (“Gransing Financial”) is principally
engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate finance, asset
management, money lending and financial adviser services to
institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and Mainland
China through its subsidiaries. The fair value of the investment in
Gransing Financial is based on valuation by independent valuer.

()  Help U Credit Finance Limited (“Help U") is principally engaged in
money lending business in Hong Kong. Help U is a licensed money
lender and provides secured and unsecured loans to both individuals
and corporations. The fair value of the investment in Help U is based
on valuation by independent valuer.

The top three investments with realised gain and loss for the Year are
summarised as below:

Top three realised gain for the Year

Name of investment

BREREEERAR ([RAEER])E
EFBEMBARMEE RPEAME
BRMWAREERHEBEERL X/
B BREEE BELKVMBEBRSE -
REKEBIREN A FESDERBUG
BEEb 2 HEFE -

EAVBEARAR(EADETEREE
REEEXR -BARBTEBMEA 1A
BARABREEERREEBER -
REAREN R FETDERBILIGER
ZfhERtE -

RAFEHBEERRERBE = RIRER
R

AEE=ZARBERKE

Realised gain

REERE = FENL €
HK$'000

FHET

Noble Engineering Group Holdings Limited BEERLIESEEZERAR AR 1,008

Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd

Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited

Top three realised loss for the Year

Name of investment

AL BRRERRBENBER AT 108
WS EREEREBR AR

79

TEE=ZARCEEER

Realised loss

REARW ERREE

HK$’000

FAET

Hydra Capital Spc Hydra Capital Spc 37,500

Power Financial Group Limited BHEREEAR AR 7,357

China Creative Digital Entertainment Limited FEEE SIS R TR AR

(Formerly known as HMV Digital China (RIHMV ISP EEFR A F])

Group Limited) 6,262
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

The Company has maintained a sufficient cash position which will allow it
to capture opportunities with promising returns in both listed and private
equities.

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio, defined as total debts divided
by shareholders’ equities, was 14.2% (31 December 2018: 23.4%). As at
31 December 2019, the Company has margin payable to securities brokers
of HK$8,718,501 with interest rate 12.125% per annum from 1 January
2019 to 31 October 2019 and 12% per annum from 1 November 2019
(31 December 2018: HK$17,155,239 with interest rate 12.125% per
annum).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year (2018: Nil).

CHARGES ON COMPANY'’S ASSET AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had pledged Hong Kong listed
securities of approximately HK$40 million to secure the margin payables to
the securities broker (31 December 2018: HK$48.2 million).

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019 (31
December 2018: Nil).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On the Listing Date on 6 January 2011, the Company completed a share
placement and a total of 303,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
were placed at a price of HK$1.03 per share for a total cash consideration,
excluding the related issue expenses, for approximately HK$312.1 million.
Subsequent to the listing, the Company had completed several fund
raising activities and a capital reduction. As at 31 December 2019, the
capital of the Company comprises of 1,388,246,794 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

During the Year, the Company has raised an approximately HK$21 million,
net of expense, by way of entering into a placing agreement with the
placing agent, to place 220,000,000 placing shares to not less than six
placees which are professional investors and independent third parties
with the Company. The placing shares are issued at a gross price of HK$0.1
and net price of HK$0.095 per placing shares (closing price of the shares of
the Company was HK$0.097 as at the date of announcement) under the
general mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 29 May 2018. The Company had applied the net
proceeds from the placing for investment in line with its ordinary course
of business and the general working capital of the Company. Details of
the placing of new shares under general mandate can be referred to the
announcements dated 18 February 2019 and 14 March 2019 respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year (2018: Nil).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2019, the Company made no capital expenditure or
any other commitments (31 December 2018: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, the Company did not acquire or dispose of any
subsidiaries or associated companies (2018: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS AND INVESTMENT POLICY

The Company has twenty-two investments as of 31 December 2019,
comprising of seventeen equity securities listed in Hong Kong, two equity
securities listed in Australia and three private equities. The largest one held
by the Company is in the financial services sector focusing in the Hong
Kong market.

The rest of the net proceeds gained will be applied by the Board and the
Investment Manager in making investments according to the investment
objective, policies and restrictions of the Company and the requirements
of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Listing Rules and the
investment management agreement.

The proceeds shall normally be invested in listed and unlisted companies
considered to be high growth potential or to be with significant potential
return in such a variety of industry sectors in order to minimise the impact
of downturns. The Company shall not make any investment which would
expose the Company to unlimited liability. Any proceeds not deployed are
placed in bank deposits or invested in money market instruments or money
market funds.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had five full-time employees (31
December 2018: six full-time employees). All of the Company’s employees
were based in Hong Kong.

The Company establishes its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and a performance-based reward system.
The policy is periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory provident
fund, salaries increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may
be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$3,370,125 (2018: HK$2,699,065).
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FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Board believes that foreign exchange risks are minimal as the
Company mainly uses the Hong Kong dollar or United States dollar to carry
out its business transactions.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed share consolidation, change in board lot size and rights
issue

The Company proposed a share consolidation of every four issued and
unissued existing shares of par value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated
share of par value of HK$0.04, the authorised share capital of the
Company will become HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000
consolidated shares of HK$0.04 each, of which 347,061,698 consolidated
shares will be in issue, the board lot size for trading on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) will change from 20,000
existing shares to 10,000 consolidated shares conditional upon the share
consolidation becoming effective.

The Company proposed to implement a rights issue on the basis of one
rights share for every one consolidated share at the subscription price of
HK$0.16 per rights share, to raise proceeds of approximately HK$54.6
million after deducting expenses.

Details of the share consolidation, change in board lot size and rights issue

were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 3 March 2020,
circular dated 16 March 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (being the chairman
with professional qualifications in accountancy), Mr. Leung Wai Lim and
Mr. Sun Boquan.

The summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board hereby announces that the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 26 May 2020 to Friday, 29 May 2020, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM"), all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 25 May 2020.
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Profiles of Directors

ES=EF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gu Xu (“Mr. Gu"), aged 55, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, is responsible for the provision of leadership to the
Board and the Company’s business development and daily management
generally. Mr. Gu was appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
on 28 May 2015 and has been appointed as executive Director of the
Company since 25 November 2010. Mr. Gu completed a bachelor’s degree
majoring in Economics from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics
in 1986. He further received a master's degree majoring in Economics from
the same university in 1989 and a master's degree majoring in Business
Administration awarded jointly by Fudan University and The University of
Hong Kong in 2003. Mr. Gu has accumulated 24 years’ experience in asset
management, investment and financial management in both financial
conglomerate and private company. He is the chairman of /88 2% &
‘& 12 B BR A 7] (Shanghai Dongsheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.).
Mr. Gu has been appointed as independent supervisor of &k /& FiFH E 1%
3 B BR A 7] (Suzhou Financial Leasing Co., Ltd) in May 2016. Mr. Gu was
an independent non-executive director of COSCO SHIPPING Development
Co., Ltd. (2866.HK), a company listed both in Hong Kong and Shanghai,
from March 2018 to August 2019. Furthermore, Mr. Gu was the president
of Henan Zhong Yuan Lian Chuang Investment Fund Management
Company Limited from October 2015 to December 2018.
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Mr. Chan Cheong Yee ("Mr. Chan”), aged 56, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 1 June 2013. Mr. Chan is one of the
responsible officers of China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited and SHK
Fund Management Limited respectively. Mr. Chan is currently a licensed
person to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts), type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading), type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO"). Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College
of Business Administration of The University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities, fund
management, corporate management, corporate finance and managing
listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Mr.
Chan is currently as an executive director of China Innovation Investment
Limited (1217.HK), China Investment and Finance Group Limited (1226.
HK), China Investment Development Limited (204.HK), Capital VC Limited
(2324 .HK) and National Investments Fund Limited (1227.HK), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
is also an executive director of China Trend Holdings Limited (8171.HK), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He was an executive
director of Alpha Returns Group PLC, an investment company listed on
AIM of London Stock Exchange, from May 2013 to April 2018. Mr. Chan
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Bingo Group
Holdings Limited (8220.HK) in August 2007, and redesignated as an
executive director from April 2009 to September 2018.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHONG Ching Hoi (“Mr. Chong”), aged 37, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 22 December 2017. He is the
chairman of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
as well as a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a bachelor degree of Business Administration in
Accounting in November 2004. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has more than 12 years of experience
in audit, accounting, financial reporting and compliance. Mr. Chong is
currently the chief financial officer and company secretary of Hao Bai
International (Cayman) Limited (“HBIC") (8431.HK), a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He has joined HBIC since March 2016
and is responsible for its compliance and corporate governance, preparing
group’s consolidated financial statements as well as reviewing and
implementing effective financial policies and internal control procedures.

Mr. Leung Wai Lim (“Mr. Leung”), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from University of Wales in United
Kingdom in July 1995. He was admitted to practise law as a solicitor in
Hong Kong in August 1999 and in England and Wales in April 2001. Mr.
Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of Shun Wo
Group Holdings Limited (1591.HK), and Yield Go Holdings Ltd. (1796.HK),
both shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He is an adjudicator appointed to the Panel of Adjudicators (Control of
Obscene and Indecent Articles) (established under the Control of Obscene
and Indecent Articles Ordinance (Chapter 390 of the Laws of Hong Kong))
and a member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) in
Hong Kong. He is also a panel member appointed by the Secretary for
Transport and Housing to the Transport Tribunals’ Panel and a member of
the Transportation and Logistics Committee (co-option) of the Law Society
of Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of law related working
experience. He has been a partner of Howse Williams Bowers since May
2015. He was employed by DLA Piper from February 2001 to April 2009
at which his last position was partner. He was then employed by Eversheds
from May 2009 to April 2015 at which his last position was partner.
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Mr. Sun Boquan (“"Mr. Sun”), aged 68, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director as well as a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company on 5 June 2019. Mr. Sun has obtained a
master degree in business administration from Nan Kai University (F3
KE), the People’s Republic of China in 2005. He was the deputy bureau
head of Tianjin Public Utility Bureau (X2 A A /@) in September 1997,
and was the chairman of X3EM AR EE AR 2 7] (Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited) from 2000 to 2011. During the period from August
2004 to September 2011, Mr. Sun acted as a non-executive director of
Tianjin Tianlian Public Utilities Company Limited (currently known as Tianjin
Jinran Public Utilities Company Limited), a company now listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (1265.HK). Mr. Sun was the chairman
of KB RIHE (Tianjin Gas Society) and the vice chairman of # Bl ¥ &,
E@ (China Gas Society) from 2011 to 2013. Mr. Sun was an independent
non-executive director of Ming Hing Holdings Limited (currently known as
Peace Map Holding Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (402 .HK), for the period from October
2006 to March 2009.
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Report of the Directors
EERHE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Company is an exempted limited liability company, incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 February 2010 for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company is principally engaged in investing globally in both private
and publicly listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of the mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 6 January 2011 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company had not commenced any operation or business before the
Listing Date.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review as required by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including risks facing by the Company,
important events affecting the Company, that have occurred since the
end of the Year, likely future development in the Company’s business can
be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this “Report
of the Directors”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Company for the Year are set out in the financial
statements on pages 69 to 155.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividends for the Year
(31 December 2018: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Company for the
Year is set out on page 156.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the Year are set out in the
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the Year are set out in
Note 23 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lam Chun Ho (Resigned on 5 June 2019)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi

Mr. Leung Wai Lim

Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Resigned on 5 June 2019)
Mr. Sun Boquan (Appointed on 5 June 2019)

In order to comply with the requirements of the code provision A.4.2 of
the CG Code, Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, Mr. Chong Ching Hoi and Mr. Sun
Boquan shall retire at the AGM. The retiring Directors are being eligible to
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set
out in the section headed "Profiles of Directors” on pages 24 to 27 of this
annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EERHE

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the fee or emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Company’s operations. The Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement during the Year or there was not any
subsisting equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company at the
end of the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Company is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental
and social sustainable development. As a responsible enterprise, the
Company is in compliance with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmentally friendliness,
health as well as safety and adopts effective measures, conserves energy
and reduces waste.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director of the
Company together with every former Director of the Company shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability,
action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including
legal expenses, whatsoever which they or any of them may incur in the
execution of their office or otherwise in relation thereto. During the Year,
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be taken against the
Directors and officers of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation (if any).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the “Investment Management Agreement” mentioned below,
no contracts of significance, to which the Company was a party and in
which any Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save the respective Investment Management Agreement and Potential
Conflicts of Interest disclosed on pages 35 to 36 of the Report of the
Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 1 June 2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.
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EERHE

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the new Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of shares in issue on 29 May 2017 as the Company has seeked the
approval of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10%
limit under the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing from 28 May 2015.

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date on which the Board approves the making
of the offer for the grant of options (the “Date of Grant”), which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The time of acceptance of an offer for the grant of options shall not
be later than 21 days from the Date of Grant. A non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option.

Particulars to the Company’s Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 22
to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or chief executives of
the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSON'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

Shareholders’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2019, the following person (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
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Company (the “Shares”) Bl ZHE
Approximate %
Number of Number of of issued
Capacity in which shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder shares are held (Direct interests) (Indirect interests) the Company
EARAT
g3 v ] FEROAHA ERTREZ
BREE LB RS 25145 (EEER) (BEER) BAB S
Kwok Shun Tim Interest in controlled corporation - 137,599,664 9.91
(Note 1)
BHpIE XESAREE (PEE1)
Morris Global Capital Limited Beneficial Owner 137,599,664 - 9.91
EmEAEA
Wang Xin Beneficial Owner 135,186,628 - 9.74
T EmEAEA
Quasar Global Selection SPC Fund —  Beneficial Owner 132,540,000 - 9.54
Shenzhen Qianhai Glory Fund SP
BRARNBEBUEARRES- EaBEAA
RYIEGREBREESBUES
Quasar Investment Management Investment manager - 132,540,000 9.54
(Cayman) Limited (Note 2)
BRAKAEE (AS)BRAR RELE (P 2)
Notes: ffsE -
1. Morris Global Capital Limited (“MGC") is wholly owned by Mr. Kwok Shun Tim (“Mr. 1. Morris Global Capital Limited ([MGC ) FRZB4E1E L 4£

Kwok"). Therefore, Mr. Kwok is deemed to be interested in the 137,599,664 shares of

the Company held by in MGC.

2. Quasar Investment Management (Cayman) Limited is the investment manager of Quasar 2.
Global Selection SPC Fund-Shenzhen Qianhai Glory Fund SP (“Quasar Fund”) and is
thereby deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Quasar Fund is interested.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company has
not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executives interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares and debentures”) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Custodian Agreement

The Company had terminated the custodian agreement with Deutsche
Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch effective on 15 August 2019 and appointed
Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian”) as its new
custodian. The custodian agreement with Bank of Communications
Trustee Limited (the “Custodian Agreement”) was effective on 15 August
2019 and will continue to be in force until terminated by either the
Company or the Custodian by giving the other party not less than 30 days
advance notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Custodian Agreement, the Company will pay the
Custodian a monthly fee of the higher of (a) the net asset value of the
Company at valuation day equal to the rate 0.04% per annum, or (b)
HK$12,500 per month.

During the Year, the total custodian fee of HK$288,677 was paid by the
Company to the two custodians.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated 20 December
2019, the Company re-appointed China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited
(the “Investment Manager”) as its investment manager to provide the
Company with investment management services for another period of
three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. The Investment
Manager is entitled to receive from the Company a management fee
accruing monthly at the annual amount of HK$600,000 and payable
monthly in arrears from 1 January 2020 onwards.

During the Year, the management fee of HK$960,000 was paid by the
Company.

The Investment Manager is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
service provided by the Investment Manager to the Company under the
Investment Management Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ OPINION ON CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

In the opinion of the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, the terms of and the transactions contemplated
under the Investment Management Agreement and the Custodian
Agreement have been entered into after arm’s length negotiation, on
normal commercial terms, and in the ordinary course of business of the
Company, and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole.
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Report of the Directors
EERHE

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed above by
the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Currently the Investment Manager and their directors, officers and
employees provide management and advisory services to a number of
hedge funds, mutual funds and managed discretionary accounts with
similar investment objectives to the Company.

From time to time conflicts of interest may arise between the interest of
the Company and those of other clients. In such situations, the Investment
Manager will have regard to its obligations to the Company to act in the
best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having regard also to
its obligations to the other clients.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is a Director of the Company and the Investment
Manager and is involved in the day-to-day operations of each of these
entities. This may give rise to conflicts of interest.

As the overall interests of the Company and Investment Manager are
aligned, the Directors are of the view that Mr. Chan will be able to act
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition,
all major decisions of each of these companies will be made by their
respective board of directors of these companies as a whole and not at the
sole discretion of Mr. Chan. In the case of the Company, this includes the
independent non-executive Directors and the executive Director, Mr. Gu
Xu.

Mr. Chan will maintain confidentiality in respect of the information of each
of the funds managed by the Investment Manager. They are also aware
of their obligations under the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong’s Internal Control Guidelines that they are required to establish and
ensure the integrity and security of all information relevant to the business
operations of the respective entities.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2019

ARBZBEC BB RIEE LS ASHEM
ZEBIZE TIEE 2RI 3000 5 [ Fix k&
BIESL M ER AN ZE TR RS RER
FHEAE7405R R EE LR APl F545RE
BRSZREEN KT | ERR B Z FERE
X5 ZHBEN D RIE £ R BIE 14A 38 5 3
HEREER XM EREAY EXAREMR
BREZIBRFERER S 2 BH MW -

R ) A% B K B A X 2 BRI

BENZFR

REEBANBEENES SRABENEESR
AIAZEEARTIRE B RRUNEIHES -
EBEESMNEENERIARPREHEEELFE
A AR

ARFREMEFOFSAEE I NHHRE
R-RZEFBEAT  REEEANSRERY
ARBRMEL FHFTEARBRENENT
B RBZTHREHEMEFNEEME R

REBERER/ARFTMKREEEANES 2
HEZEERMNATLEE SREEHNEE
%_\g o

HRARFRREEEANBRANGZ - &
ERE REEFAIARRRREBRRN&HE
MEEITE  WIN  BERFRBRAAERNRE
HEEEAMNESSRRIFL  WIFHREE
EHRTE - MARRIME © EBEEULIFNTT
EZNRTEFEBELEE -

RELKHSHREERATENZEEENE
BHRE - RENAZHRERBERFZLAES
BEEZBeNBETESI THERE  REEA
BYREREAHEREGRENMEER T

BRZE -



PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the shares of
the Company under the articles of association of the Company although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 52,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this report.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after 31 December 2019 are set out
in Note 30 to the finance statements.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had five full-time employees, two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Details
of the fees or emoluments of Directors in respect of their services rendered
to the Company and staff cost during the Year are set out in Note 8 and
Note 9 respectively to the financial statements.

Report of the Directors
FERHE

BrisER

HARERS AP L EERELEERRS
ARRABERAANA EBEARRRDNE
SER BRI -

TEER
BEEAEKDARENBBEN &
ARRAEEAEARE B 8% e
AT A (L% ERT

A8 14 s 2 R ER
81 1) B9 P A S8 AR ST RIS

% BED

HEGTMEBMARABGNARBEER
RBEFAG LR ATEERLBEEERE
o

BERREE

R2019F 12 AN Bz BEEAZEZEHFE
BN HRERMIFE30 ©

ADERRFMER

MR2019F 12 A31H XA BREZEBIE
B MERTEER-EBUFNTESZ - B
REE - EEFFFEHRAARRRHRBE MK 2
wasiie kB TRAZFHBDRIEN MR
FMIFES KHIEE9 o

FETEEREBR AR / F1]R 2019

37



38

Report of the Directors
EERHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

Gu Xu
Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company has committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the Company to
formulate its business strategies and policies, and manage the associated
risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the
transparency and accountability of the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and creditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company was
in compliance with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code, save
and except for the deviation from code provisions A.2.1. Key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company as well as the details
of the deviation are summarised in the section headed “Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer” on page 42.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all
the Directors of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five members,
two of which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Gu Xu, who is the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee. The other three members comprise three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi, Mr. Leung Wai Lim and
Mr. Sun Boquan. There is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) among members of the
Board. The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profiles of Directors” on pages 24 to 27 of this annual report.
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The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2019. The Board is responsible, inter alia, for establishing the investment
objective and policies of the Company, for complying with the Company’s
investment restrictions, for monitoring the Company’s performance and
for the appointing, supervising, directing and, if necessary, removing any
of the Company’s service providers, including the Investment Manager.

Current composition of the Board, including names of the independent
non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to
shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and accounts
of the Company. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. The
Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional
advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their duties to the
Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Company’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Company’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. All Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their

Corporate Governance Report
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contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first occasion
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of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the 23| LR MESEERE R AR EGE L LS

business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant

statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional EHES
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the

Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by Directors during the year ended 31
December 2019 according to the records provided by the Directors is as

follows:

Name of Directors
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Seminar and training on
corporate governance,
regulatory development
and other relevant topics
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Executive Directors
Mr. Gu Xu
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lam Chun Ho
(Resigned on 5 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi
Mr. Leung Wai Lim
Mr. Pun Tit Shan
(Resigned on 5 June 2019)
Mr. Sun Boquan
(Appointed on 5 June 2019)
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Year, Mr. Gu Xu had been the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He provided leadership to the
Board and is responsible for the Company’s business development and
daily management generally. The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same individual can
provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high-calibre individuals, with three of them being
independent non-executive Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Board has at all times complied with the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to having a minimum of three independent
non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board)
with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are available to the shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

All members of each Board committee consist of non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors only and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those
set out in CG Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings to review interim and annual
financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems, scope of work and
appointment of external auditors, and arrangements for employees to
raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the
presence of the executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Directors from time to time. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out
in the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings to consider the relevant
matters regarding the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters. The Remuneration Committee
also made recommendations to the Board on the terms of service
agreement of the new independent non-executive Director appointed
during the Year.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategies, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would also discuss and make
recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, to consider the qualifications of
the retiring Directors standing for election at the AGM and to consider
and recommend to the Board on the appointment of Mr. Sun Boquan as
independent non-executive Director.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted an updated Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is committed
to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered. At present, the Nomination
Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently diverse and will review
the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Report
/\ALM/\—/\- \

E./El#&l::

EFEEIRBE

ARRERAEEH cEFTELTLILBR - &
REIEEEFERZITILZTE - AR FIEE
ERRABEZTItEEG2#am  YRESEE
S RBB AR HFEB CERTLER -

REEES SRR T%%é%%‘ﬂ%i@*

MEESCRE  RBRNARK  XRNEEBR
THEFSZEHRLES  UZELRFAD

ERBELREREFTERFEREZIZTE - R R
A MFHEESSANKE RRZEERNES
EEEFREZT  YHERZELE B
BARRMER - Fie - ERHBEER  EXE

BE - BB ABA NI RITEER -

AR ERFERERNRREHERMEMZ
SUER  YHOBENRBELBEER &
EEm(HEEeMm ) ABERE  UEET

RAAZE-BRl - RELZEGRA EFGHR
/\%Ek‘t IH‘TE/\LEEI /RT*AADTﬁ%g%E
LIER - DARBRAR B AR o

FETEEREBR AR / F1]R 2019

45



46

Corporate Governance Report

ALl A/ N/
PEERRS

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.
The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Character and integrity;

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the

selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The independent non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of 3 years,
subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The circular to shareholders of the Company with notice of the AGM
contains biographical details of all the Directors proposed to be re-elected
at the meeting to enable shareholders of the Company to make an
informed decision on re-election of Directors.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended 31 December 2019 is set out in the table below:

EEHESRER

BEEHFEAARNREE2019F12A31H1E
FERTNEESRESRESSHUNRER
RENBERERTE

Meeting attended/held
HEEERE BTEENY
Annual/
Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meetings
RREE/
EExg ENZE® HMzEEE REZE® REAE
Executive Directors iTEE
Mr. Gu Xu BiE 4/4 - - - 1/1
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREZLAE 3/4 - - - 1/1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Lam Chun Ho WRELE
(Resigned on 5 June 2019) (A2019F 6 A5 HE ) 22 11 1/1 11 1/1
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HEd AL 444 22 22 22 111
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RMREAE 3/4 12 112 12 11
Mr. Pun Tit Shan EEH T
(Resigned on 5 June 2019) (R2019% 6 A5 AEHT) 20 17n 1N 17N 1”n
Mr. Sun Boquan (Note) Bz R4 ()
(Appointed on 5 June 2019) (201956 A5 REZE) 17 11 0/0 0/0 0/0

Note: Mr. Sun Boquan was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company on 5 June 2019. The Board had not held any Remuneration Committee
Meeting, Nomination Committee Meeting and annual/extraordinary general meeting
after his appointment.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Director during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for each financial year and to present the interim results, annual financial
statements, and related announcements to shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent auditors
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 62 to
68.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are in place both at the
Company and the Investment Manager level. The Investment Manager
has in place a comprehensive risk management and internal control policy
which includes procedures requiring regular performance of various risk
analytics on the Company’s portfolio and close monitoring of the portfolio
against the Company’s investment objective, policies and restrictions.
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At the Company level, a risk committee (the “Risk Committee”) which
consists of Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, an executive Director, Chong Ching Hoi,
an independent non-executive Director and relevant staff, is responsible
for monitoring the operational and portfolio risks to the Company and
monitoring the Investment Manager including reviewing whether the
investment objectives, policies and restrictions are being followed by
the Investment Manager. In case of any deviation, the risk committee
will discuss deviations with the Investment Manager immediately and
monitor remedial action. For all material deviations, the risk committee
will formulate recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial
actions to be taken. The Risk Committee meets on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee member.

The Board, as supported by the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee
as well as the management, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the Year, and considered that such systems are effective and
adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
Year is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in
this annual report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
independent auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, for audit
services is HK$500,000, and non-audit service is HK$11,200 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tai Man Hin Tony, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the
company secretary of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Tai has undertaken not less

than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convening extraordinary general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any members of the Company
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) hold(s) as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than ten per cent in the Net Asset Value of the shares
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to
be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months after the 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company are laid down in Article 34.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing
of the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company. The minimum length of the period during which
such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or request to the Company, for
the attention of Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2706 9544, or mail to
Unit 702, 7/F., 135 Bonham Strand Trade Centre, 135 Bonham Strand,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings or other general meetings.
The Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will make
themselves available at the annual general meeting to meet with the
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.chinaneweconomyfund.com, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report (the "ESG
Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. In respect
of the information concerning “corporate governance”, please refer to the

relevant parts of the Company’s annual report.

The ESG Report describes the ESG performance made by the Company
during the Year. The scope of the ESG Report covers the business
operation in the management head office at Hong Kong.

The Board of the Company recognises the importance of ESG in meeting
the changing expectations of stakeholders while enhancing the value and
performance of the Company. Hence, the Board working together with
the management has taken on the overall responsibility of assessing and
identifying risks associated with ESG matters of the Company, and engage
in the mission to promote environmentally and socially sustainable culture
among all its employees to maintain long-term growth of the Company.
This culture enables the Company to formulate appropriate ESG policies
and procedures, to monitor and measure the progress of the ESG efforts,
and also to report on its performances to investors and key stakeholders.

The Company values its stakeholders and their views relating to its
businesses and environmental, social and governance issues. In order
to understand and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Company
communicates with its key stakeholders including but not limited to
investors, customers, government bodies, employees, suppliers and
communities through different channels.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Company
takes into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives to improve its
performance through mutual cooperation with the stakeholders, resulting
in creating greater value for the community.

The aspects and key performance indicators as defined in the ESG
Reporting Guide which were considered to be relevant and material to the
Company will be presented below.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA

Aspect A1: Emissions and Waste

During the Year, the Company has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that has an impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Company
during the Year (2018: Nil).

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported during the Year
(2018: Nil).

Due to nature of the Company’s business, it produces no direct air
or direct GHG emissions. A small amount of GHG were emitted
indirectly during the Year from the consumption of electricity in
the office, which was supplied by power station where GHG were
directly emitted.

No hazardous waste was produced and there was no discharge
into water and land during the Year (2018: Nil). An insignificant
small amount of non-hazardous wastes were collected at the office,
which were primarily waste paper, office supplies, and domestic
wastes. Despite minimal impact to the environment, the Company
has implemented environmental-friendly measures to manage GHG
emissions and waste production as described in the later section
titled “environmental-friendly measures”.
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Scopes of GHG emissions

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Scope 1 — Direct emissions from operations that are owned or
controlled by the Company, such as the use of company

vehicle;

Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions resulting from purchased
electricity consumed by the Company;

Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions that occur outside the
Company, including both upstream and downstream
emissions, such as methane gas generation at landfill
due to disposal of paper waste, GHG emissions due to
electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage
by government departments and business air travel by

employees.

The amount of emissions under these different GHG scopes in CO,

equivalent (“CO,e") during the Year was as follows:

RIE - g LEARE

BEREHMZEE
51 - BARFMERLIEFZE
BEEZERER  WER
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EEZFk BT ERE
RIKNIFKEFRME S MA
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B AR kT SR TR o

RAFE  ZETRAEREBHET Z
HME AR EE(Z8LRE
EIRT)WT

(Units: Tonnes of CO,e) 2019 2018
(Bfi M-S {tHER) 2019 % 2018
Major Emission Emission

GHG emissions sources volume Intensities volume Intensities

BERBHRK FTERR HHE BE HemE g
(Note) (Note)
(BF=E) (BF3E)

Scope 1

g1

Direct emissions Nil - - - -

BEHN i

Scope 2

gikE2

Energy indirect emissions Purchased electricity 5.59 1.12 4.06 0.68

YR A B HE AR BEE

Scope 3

g3

Other indirect emissions Disposal of paper 0.35 0.07 0.20 0.03

Hh BN EEER

Total GHG emissions 5.94 1.19 4.26 0.71

BEREBHEREE

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of
employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company generated no scope 1 emissions and an insignificant
amount of scope 3 emissions during the Year. Approximately 5.59
tonnes of scope 2 emissions was generated during the Year. The
emission has been consistent since there has been no change in the
pattern of the Company’s electricity usage.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

As detailed in the section headed “Emissions and Waste", electricity
consumption was a major source of indirect GHG emission during
the Year. The consumption of electricity was similar to that in the
same period in previous year. The amount of consumption by types
of energy or resources during the Year was as follows:

BHEA2: ERER

WIgER M EERY) | —EiprRF - AE

ARFERZEAEREIRZ TZHRR
BEEREFRYPHES - RAFE - %

BERKERBERIE D 2 HFEEMT ¢

2018
20184

Energy and resources Units Amount Intensities Amount Intensities
BERKER B BE RE HE nE

(Note) (Note)

GE (P &E)
Electricity kWh 6,987 1,397 5,143 857
BN TR
Paper Kilograms 14 42 7

Mok TR

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of
employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company consumes water in the office from a centralised water
and sanitation system implemented in the building. The cost of water
consumption of the Company is inclusive in the monthly rent, and
the building management does not individually measure the water
consumption of each tenant and hence no relevant data can be
collected.

Due to the nature of the Company’s business no packaging material
was used.

Paper was primarily used for office printing. The Company has begun
to collect paper consumption data during the Year and a total of
approximately 72 kg of paper was consumed. There was no change
in the usage pattern of paper during the Year compared to previous
years.

Despite minimal impact to the environment, energy and resource
conservation are essential parts of the Company’'s ESG strategy
which will be detailed in the later section titled “environmental-
friendly measures”.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2019

BiEE B R R 2 AR BB I AU B B
BitE -

ARBPBRERKKRERAEAREZ
fREKFIFRER o KRB RAKKA
BERAER ARKEEEFLTE
BAEREFPZAKE  WEEKEM
FAZUE -

ERADRZ EHEE - ADFLEE
maEm -

MREEARPAZINED - RAFE
AARFRBREREERE  HBRD
2T RAR - RAFE - fREAER
EEFMRL L EmE -

BEARAHRRELZFEEM &
HWEERNEERRARBIRE HERE
ARBZEE R ABFBERHRTX
[BRREE] —EiFA -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Company does not use any natural resources in the process of
its business, and hence the impact on the environment or natural
resources was minimal during the Year. Nonetheless the Company is
well aware of the importance in environmental protection, and has
adopted policies and a range of measures to minimise current impact
and manage any potential adverse impact in the future, persisting in
conducting our business in an environmentally responsible manner.
These policies and measures are described below.

Environmental-friendly measures

The Company has always put great emphasis on energy and resource
conservation, which is shown by its engagement in energy savings
and implementation of workplace strategies to reduce energy and
water consumptions. Accordingly, the Company has the following
measures which are regularly carried out to achieve its ESG strategy
in the course of the Company’s operations:

1. Employees are encouraged to use video/telephone
conferencing system to reduce business travel and take public
transportation wherever possible to lower environmental
impact from the burning of fossil fuel.

2. The Company has also implemented energy and water saving
practices, such as maintaining workplace temperature at a
comfortably low level with reference to the relevant standard
recommended by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department of the Hong Kong Government to reduce energy
use.

3. Engaged in environmental-friendly measures in the workplace
in the effort to lower energy consumption, for instance,
employees of the Company are reminded to minimise their
impact on the environment and the use of natural resources
when conducting business.

4. Waste reduction measures include monitoring and recording
paper usage on a monthly basis, and promoting the use of
recycled paper and double-sided printing are actively adopted
wherever possible.

5. The Company’s efficient use of resources and waste reduction
initiatives and guidelines are stipulated in the Staff Handbook
and policies where appropriate to educate and promote ESG to
employees.
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SOCIAL SUBJECT AREAS

Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Company. Remuneration Committee was set up to providing
a fair and equitable workplace environment for employees, and
ensures that they are reasonably remunerated.

The Company has incorporated guidelines into the Staff Handbook,
covering all aspects of employment, including working hours, rest
periods, salary and welfare, code of conduct, and anti-bribery.
Employment policies in the Staff Handbook have been reviewed and
regularly updated.

The Company has fully complied with the Employment Ordinance,
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527) and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602). The Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has
an impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the Year
(2018: Nil).

As at the end of the Year, there were five full-time employees
employed by the Company (2018: six). Two employees left the
Company during the Year (2018: One). The Company is based in
Hong Kong and all of its employees work at the Hong Kong office.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for all of its employees, protecting them from any
potential occupational hazards. The tasks of the employees are
mainly office-based, and thus safety issues are not as pertinent
to the job nature. The Company also offers coverage on medical
insurance (including in-patient and out-patient) and compensation
to employees in the event of sickness and work-related injury.
During the Year, the Company complied with all relevant laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong Kong.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Company attaches great importance to the staff development
and quality of employee. The Company has offered training
opportunities from external organisations, and offers flexible training
time to facilitate employees to reinforce skill sets and to keep up-to-
date with the latest knowledge in their profession.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Company is committed to complying with all applicable labour
laws and regulations on employment in Hong Kong.

The Company respects human rights and treats this as an important
factor when making investment in human capital in comprehensive
screening process in order to recruit employees with good quality.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
work hours and the employees are entitled to annual leave, sick
leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and compassionate leave.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Company’s principle activity is investment holding. Unlike
those companies which manufacture, trade or provide services, the
Company has relatively few suppliers and a very simplistic supply
chain. The environmental and social impacts with regards to supplier
chain is relatively low.

The Company’s suppliers are mainly those third-party suppliers
providing services such as information technology, property
management, advertising, legal and consulting, and third-party
suppliers of goods such as office equipment, and printing and
stationery. All of the suppliers were based in Hong Kong.

The Company maintains practices that build up positive relationships
with its suppliers as well as focusing on service quality when selecting
suppliers. The Company purchases from a list of approved suppliers
that have been awarded for their quality of goods and services
through the selection process.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Due to the Company’s business nature, it does not deliver a product
or service and hence product responsibility is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has complied with relevant law and regulations
with regards to data protection and privacy when transacting with
third-party and dealing with member share registration matters.
Unauthorised copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential
information, including identities and records of transactions of
registered members, are strictly prohibited. During the Year, the
Company has not received any significant complaint from any
stakeholders (2018: Nil).
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Company has strict policies that ensures adherence to the
highest ethical standards and maintains a corporate culture
of integrity and justice to prevent, detect and report all types
of corruption, including bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. In complying with provisions included in the Staff
Handbook, employees at all levels are expected to conduct in an
appropriate manner, with integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has complied with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws in regions in which the Company invests. The Company
was not aware of any significant matter related to corruption during
the Year (2018: Nil).

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company invests in the community by making significant
contributions which related to the labour need and education. It
also encourages employees to participate in various local community
activities and events on a voluntary basis on the focus areas.
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HE st E TR R A A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the shareholders of China New Economy Fund Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China New Economy Fund
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 69 to 155, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement
of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019, and of
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs") issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Carrying amount of listed investments

As can be seen from Note 16 to the financial statements, the aggregate
fair value of the Company’s listed equity investments amounted to
HK$40,066,151 as at 31 December 2019, which comprised approximately
56% of the total of the Company’s assets (by carrying value) as at 31
December 2019 and were significant to the Company’s capital and
financial performance. Due to their materiality, they are one of the areas
which had the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy.

Our procedures over the existence, valuation and completeness of the
Company’s portfolio of listed investments included:

o Assessing the processes in place to record investment transactions
and to value the portfolio;

o Agreeing the pricing of all the listed investments to externally quoted
prices; and

o Obtaining from independent third party custodian confirmations on
all the listed investments.

Carrying amount of suspended listed investments

As can be seen from Note 16 to the financial statements, the investment
portfolio of the Company as at 31 December 2019 also included
investments in suspended listed investments, which do not have an active
market.

We focused on this area because of the significance of these investments
in the financial statements, and because determining the valuation
methodology and the inputs involved high degree of estimation
uncertainty and required significant judgement to be applied by the
investment manager and the board of directors.
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Our procedures over the existence and valuation of the Company’s

portfolio of suspended listed investments included:

Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for appropriateness
against accepted market practice;

Assessing the assumptions made in determining the valuation of
these investments by considering factors which may impact their
fair values, including the duration of suspension period, the relevant
market information and news of the suspended listed equities, the
price movement of comparable listed equities or index during the
suspension period;

Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s models and
methodologies to independent external sources where possible;

Involving our valuation experts to assist in assessing the valuation
techniques and inputs used, particularly where the valuation inputs

unobservable; and

Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

Carrying amount of unlisted investments

As disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the investment

portfolio includes investments in direct private equity investments, all of

which are unlisted and unquoted.

We focused on this area because of the significance of these investments

in the financial statements, and because determining the valuation

methodology and the inputs involved estimation uncertainty and required

significant judgement to be applied by the investment manager and the

board of directors.
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Our procedures over the existence and valuation of the Company’s
portfolio of unlisted investments included:

o Assessing the design and operating effectiveness of the financial
reporting controls we considered significant in the valuations and
model approval process;

o Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for appropriateness
against accepted market practice;

o Considering whether the application of methodologies is consistent
with generally accepted valuation methodologies and prior periods;

o Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s models and
methodologies to independent external sources where possible;

° Involving our valuation experts to assist in assessing these valuation
techniques and inputs used, particularly where valuation inputs were
unobservable;

o Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such as latest
financial information/statements approved by independent auditors;

o Comparing the recent transaction price with the valuation basis
provided by management; and

o Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
AR R ey

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Hui Chun Keung, David.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chun Keung, David
Practising Certificate Number: P05447

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Bam LA RN ER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 12 A318 ILFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT
REVENUE WA 5 5,447,693 9,403,558
Net loss on financial assets at fair BATEBBEREIEZ
value through profit or loss SREEEIBFRE 6 (25,920,857) (80,521,383)
Other operating expenses HMEERS (12,380,812) (18,998,620)
OPERATING LOSS BEEIE (32,853,976) (90,116,445)
Finance costs B 75 B AN 7(a) (1.216,964) (2,842,992)
LOSS BEFORE TAX B A 5 18 7(b) (34,070,940) (92,959,437)
Income tax expense FrigfiF 2 12 - -
LOSS AND TOTAL EATEEEZFEA
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR EBEtFEREBEREZE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO BEARE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY (34,070,940) (92,959,437)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR TEBEEBEFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY EhaEEREE
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic — B (0.03) (0.09)
- Diluted —¥s (0.03) (0.09)
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Statement of Financial Position

BFSIRR

At 31 December 2019 7201912 H31H

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Right-of-use asset EREAE 14(a) 242,796 -
Deposits e 15 72,205 216,175
Total non-current assets IEMEEELRE 315,001 216,175
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments TETRIE 15 283,437 564,493
Amount due from brokers U AE 40 A FRIR 15 203,762 2,271,370
Financial assets at fair value through &R FEFBIERTIRZ
profit or loss TREE 16 70,866,968 85,856,636
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 18 403,338 2,787,626
Total current assets MEEELE 71,757,505 91,480,125
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals EMERIERETE A 19 1,496,119 1,293,827
Amount due to brokers FEHE 42 AFRIE 20 8,718,501 17,155,439
Amount due to a related company  E{f —fERE R AIFA 21 160,000 80,000
Lease liability HEAE 14(b) 179,379 -
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 10,553,999 18,529,266
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 61,203,506 72,950,859
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHBERABES
LIABILITIES 61,518,507 73,167,034
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liability HEaEm 14(b) 77,107 -
Total non-current liabilities EREBERTE 77,107 -
Net assets BEFE 61,441,400 73,167,034
EQUITY =
Issued capital EEITIRA 23 13,882,468 11,682,468
Reserves 1 47,558,932 61,484,566
Total equity EamiaE 61,441,400 73,167,034
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE BREEFE 0.04 0.06

Gu Xu
=g

Director

EF
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Statement of Changes in Equity
BESS T =

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 12 A318 ILFE

Share
Issued Share  Distributable options  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRTRA ROEE THIKEE ERERE 2 BB @t
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
BT B BT BT BT BT
(Note 23) (Note 23) (Note) (Note 22)
(FHzE23) (MtEE23) (F3E) (FtiE22)
At 1 January 2018 20181 718 389,415,599 255,273,132 - - (526,509,055 118,179,676
Shares issued during the year ERTEIRG 194,707,798 (146,030,849) - - - 48,676,949
Share issue expenses RABIRT - (730,154) - - - (730,154)
Total comprehensive loss FR2EBELE
for the year - - - - (92,959,437) (92,959,437)
Capital reduction el (572,440,929) - 15427143 - 557,013,786 -
At 31 December 2018 and R018F12A318R
1 January 2019 ®2019%1 718 11,682,468 108,512,129* 15,427,143* -*  (62,454,706)* 73,167,034
Placing of shares RERHD 2,200,000 19,800,000 - - - 22,000,000
Share issue expenses RipBIHY - (771,694) - - = (771,694)
Equity-settled share-based payment MR EER KA H - - - 1,117,000 - 1,117,000
Total comprehensive loss TEE2EBELE
for the Year - - - - (34,070,940)  (34,070,940)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 13,882,468 127,540,435* 15,427,143* 1,117,000 (96,525,646)* 61,441,400

* These reserve accounts comprise the reserve of HK$47,558,932 (2018: HK$61,484,566) * WEREERE BB BRARANZ#1E 47,558,932
in the statement of financial position. AIC(20184F 1 61,484,566 8 7C) °

Note: Distributable reserve is a balance of credit derived from capital reduction which may be Misy : Al IREEAARA T E SN EHERAYRmE

utilised by the directors of the Company. It gives greater flexibility to the Company to 7R  WARATIRNARS KIS &3
declare dividends and/or to undertake any corporate exercise which requires the use of WITEMAESRAHSREREZDETBEE RS
distributable reserves in the future. REEE -
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Statement of Cash Flows
HEmER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=2019F 12 A31HILFE

2019 2018
2019 % 20184
Notes HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ®EZEMEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRI AT E B (34,070,940) (92,959,437)
Adjustments for: BATIEE #HE :
Finance costs B TS RAR 1,216,964 2,842,992
Dividend income from listed EiEEFSFRERA
equity security 5 (72,785) (4,116,000)
Dividend income from private FLE I RE B S U
equity 5 - (1,599,998)
Bank interest income SRITH B A 5 (933) (572)
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ~ {FREEENTE 99,975 -
Net realised loss on financial ERAFEERERYIEZ
assets at fair value through TREEDEREEFE
profit or loss 6 60,326,270 15,471,888
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on BATESEBERIEZ
financial assets at fair value CREERERE (W),
through profit or loss E5i8 58 6 (34,405,413) 65,049,495
Foreign exchange loss, net SNEE B 18 2R 99,588 -
Equity-settled share-based payment  LA#E %5 45 & 9 I 19 1+ 50 1,117,000 -
(5,690,274) (15,311,632)
Payments for purchase of financial IEBEZRAFESEBIBRIIEKZ
assets at fair value through DREE TR
profit or loss (151,680,945) (344,464,254)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets H &L AT EB BB R 2
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSRIEA 140,522,669 361,847,968
Decrease in deposits and e RIERFRIER D
prepayments 425,026 198,437
Decrease in amount due from FEMAE 42 A FIE R
brokers 2,195,107 5,740,921
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to JET 442 A FKIE CRi ) /&40
brokers (8,436,938) 7,698,731
Increase/(decrease) in other payables E i & {78 K fE 5+ & 1 i1,
and accruals G 202,292 (420,231)
Increase in amount due to a related  J&/~f — FEIREE A A F I8 A0
company 80,000 -
Cash (used in)/from operations “E (A FrisRe (22,383,063) 15,289,940
Dividend income received from B EiEmESFREWA
listed equity security 72,785 4,116,000
Dividend income received from ERALERERE SR WA
private equity funds - 1,599,998
Bank interest income received B UERTT R B A 933 572
Net cash flows (used in)/from CIEEE) (TR FTEE &
operating activities mEFE (22,309,345) 21,006,510
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Statement of Cash Flows
WEMER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 124318 LFE

2019 2018
2019 % 20184
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®REZTEFEZ2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS FR08 22,000,000 48,676,949
Share issue expenses M1 B 1T (771,694) (730,154)
Interest paid EATFLE (1,216,964) (2,842,992)
Repayment of principal portion of ~ EEHE&ENAE LD
lease liability 28 (86,285) -
Repayment of borrowings EEEE 28 = (66,976,320)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEEFATE(FTA)
financing activities REeEMEFE 19,925,057 (21,872,517)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRBSEERLFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,384,288) (866,007)
Cash and cash equivalents at REEYHRS MRS EE
beginning of Year 2,787,626 3,653,633
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HAEERBEESRESEZE
AT END OF YEAR 403,338 2,787,626
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReRkReEEERDN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
— Cash at banks —RITIRE 18 403,338 2,787,626
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2019 2019412A31H

2.1

CORPORATION INFORMATION

China New Economy Fund Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 1 February 2010 under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability. The
Company was established for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company'’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of the Company is
at Unit 702, 7/F., 135 Bonham Strand Trade Centre, 135 Bonham
Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal investment objective of the Company is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through investing globally in both
private and public enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

During the Year, the Company’s investment activities are managed
by China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair values. The financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") except
when otherwise indicated.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2019
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Notes to Financial Statements

BTSRRI ot

31 December 2019 201912 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 S BEERREEER
DISCLOSURES
The Company has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for RNRBAFEN I TEHK B IR
the first time for the current year’s financial statements. TETR] RIS FT BBR B F5 3 5 22 Al -
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative B E BHE %R BB BRMENIER
Compensation EXLvd 1] & RHEF
IFRS16 Leases B EmEER HE
E165%
Amendments to I1AS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Bl 2RI FTENEIE - fER
Settlement 195% 2 1&7] BlE
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and BIRgs£AE REERAREE
Joint Ventures 285k 2 1835] R
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax B GmERE MEHERENEE
Treatments ZEEF23% s
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, 20156 220179 BRI BikE£ER)
2015-2017 Cycle IAS 12 and IAS 23 A EREY F U F35% - BB

RS 2R SE 11
5 BB gt
RIZE 12 5% I BIBR
SR AERIE 2357

ZAEET
Except for the amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 19, and Annual E%Eﬁizli”“ﬂzﬁﬁ%iﬁ%%ﬁ@Kﬁ@ZH
Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are not relevant to BB ISR 2R 99k B8R R AR &5
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements, the nature HERIE 1958 2 1B5] R BIRR B 75 e 5 AE Al
and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs are described below: 20155 £ 2017 FA AR G /2 B 2 90
Al RS ERT BB W i s S 2 Ry 1 &
FEHNTX :
The adoption of IFRIC 23 and the amendments to IAS 28 during REAFERMNEET BmEREEZES
the current year did not have any material impact to the financial F 235 R BB S AERIE 285k 2 BT H
statements. MBREBBEMERTE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2019 2019412A31H

76

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, |FRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC — 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and SIC — 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases
under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain recognition
exemptions. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors continue to classify leases as either
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17.
Therefore, IFRS 16 did not have any financial impact on leases where
the Company is the lessor.

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. Under
this method, the standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of accumulated losses at 1 January 2019,
and the comparative information for 2018 was not restated and
continued to be reported under IAS 17 and related interpretations.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2019
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

New definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to
direct the use of the identified asset. The Company elected to use
the transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. Contracts that
were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not
reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has
been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1
January 2019.

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16

The Company has lease contracts for office premises. As a lessee,
the Company previously classified leases as operating leases based
on the assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all
the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Company. Under
IFRS 16, the Company applies a single approach to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except
for two elective exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected
on a lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by class of underlying asset).
Instead of recognising rental expenses under operating leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term commencing from 1 January
2019, the Company recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any)
of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding
lease liabilities (as finance costs).

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2019 201912 A31H
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2019 2019412A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 S BERREEER (E)

78

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases
(Continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 and included in lease
liability. The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued
lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on IAS 36
on that date. The Company elected to present the right-of-use assets
separately in the statement of financial position.

The Company has used the following elective practical expedients
when applying IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

] Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application; and

J Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2019 201912 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 S BEERREEER (H)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019 R2019F 1B 1B 2K
The impact arising from the adoption of IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 20194 1 A1 B ER AN B R B 75 e 5 2
was as follows: B 16 EBNT -
Increases/
(decreases)
®hn, G2
HK$
BT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Increase in right-of-use asset 7 FAREE =N -
Current liabilities REEE
Increase in lease liability HEBEEMN -
Non-current liabilities FREBER
Increase in lease liability HEBEEM -
The lease liability as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the operating 20191 A1 AMEERER20184F
lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 are as follows: 1231 B RLHERENENT
HK$
BT
Operating lease commitments as at R2018F 12 A3 BEEHE
31 December 2018 AIE 176,000
Less: Commitments relating to leases with a remaining lease & : 282 NAHEAR 20194
term ended on or before 31 December 2019 12 A31 B 2Rl %
B 7E B AR RE H R (176,000)
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at R201941 A1 HHNEFY N/A
1 January 2019 B8 AN & i A
Discounted operating lease commitments as at R2019F 1 A1 BEYEKAIR & &
1 January 2019 BERE -
Lease liability as at 1 January 2019 RH2019F 1 A1AMNEEARE -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2019 2019412A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 © MEH#R{E & R A R0 B R B 7

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture3
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material’

and IAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

The directors anticipate that the application of the above new and

revised IFRSs will have no material impact on the financial statements
in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Company measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESFBERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued) AT EFE (HE)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed FrERI iR N AR FEFT 2 HEE

in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value WEERABRYUHATEASERE

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that BFENREKTFHABLAERERATE

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: BRDEINT -

Level 1 Based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F— AR E E AGENERTIS
identical assets or liabilities BB CRICAE) RER

Level 2 Based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level B ERSEKFEA BRI EE
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is RABRAHAFETEEEKR
observable, either directly or indirectly {8 F2 90

Level 3 Based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level E=F ERFEKFRABRTAIHE
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is B AT EFEBEANGER
unobservable fiir

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial MR EBRERENTHERRERNE

statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether ERBEME ARFARSMEEHKRA

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by BEHEER (BB AT ET RS

reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is MEBEANKEKFERABR) EESF

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of BzHRREEEY -

each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, financial assets, investment properties and non-
current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, (only if there are
revalued assets in the financial statements) unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use
the underlying assets.

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Company exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Company as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

(0

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Company’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (&)

86

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Company, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide
a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Company is the lessor, assets leased by the Company
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Company is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Company has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Company has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset that is a debt instrument to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
and financial assets which are equity instruments are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (&)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Company commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Company and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Company’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Company compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Company applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Company evaluates whether the
debt investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Company
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In
addition, the Company considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Company
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Company applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Company applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Company
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

TREENRME (&)

B1ER %

AT BEEEARENX D RARBEAR
TRESTATABREABEXND 2 E
ZEDEWFIRNRAHWEEMS  ARF
FERBED AT ERBEEREE - RIE
BETE - AR AU E GBS B R
B MERNSHEBHRETAFHRE
HEEBEREEABERE AARERE
VERNBEEEERER BEERE
I FRE AR E ATIE M R R EIRE
fEHGREE -

Financial liabilities cRAE
Initial recognition and measurement N ERRE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, amount due to brokers and amount due to a related
company and lease liability.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Dividend income is recognised on the date on which the investments
are quoted ex-dividend or, where no ex-dividend rate is quoted,
when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established and it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are
disclosed separately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Revenue from sources other than dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
described below.

Revenue from other sources

Income from profit guarantee is recognised when the amount is
received or receivable.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Company’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Company if that person:

R0 RERB MR (&)

B R GEENERMEHEES - 88FD
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MER

ETHERT  BARZALZBIES
YINRER B REARERE

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family (@ BETR—BATHEZATZHEE

and that person: FUIRERE - Mz AT :

(i)  has control or joint control over the Company; () PEHIsk L EE A A
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or iy HARBBERTE:
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the @iy ABEAQBXAQNBFRAN
Company or of a parent of the Company; FEEBABENHEP —FK
g )
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTBERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
(b)  the entity is related to the Company if any of the following (b) fWMATNEMIERER QX EEH
conditions applies: ZAN/NSIPEREaLE
(i)  the entity and the Company are members of the same () ZEBHEAAFBER—SE
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and WK E AR (EERZFZMK
fellow subsidiary is related to the others; EEHY QNG B ARMAE
RIWERARIEEEME)
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —RHEERS —ENE=
entity (or of an associate or joint venture of a member of NAlHEERE (HAS—E
a group of which the other entity is a member); BFEEE®KE QR
EhENEEREE)
(i) the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the (iy ZEBRARAGHAER—F
same third party; =AM EERE
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy, —EAEBEAF=FEENA
entity is an associate of the third entity; Eh¥E MR —EBAZS

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the V) ZEBAARNAIFR—FKHR
benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity NEEHENEEREESN
related to the Company; BH MR B BRI E
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) FEBX(FTHEAIA TS
identified in (a); S HHEFES
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) R@OPTEFIATHZERE
over the entity or is a member of the key management EEATENBZER (%
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and EEYTAA) Ezz BEAEH
Hb—HKE
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZERBIEMBEENINM
part, provides key management personnel services to the BB ARIMARRSHAR A
Company or to the parent of the Company. NARRBREIEZEEEAER
& o
Close members of the family of a person are those family members BEABEREYNRENEZEBEENE
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person RETRSN BHAETEZEAL
in their dealings with the entity. EWZBEATENRKERKE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (&)

98

POLICIES (Continued)

Share capital

The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity as the
Company has full discretion on repurchasing the shares and on
dividend distributions.

Issuance and acquisition of ordinary shares are accounted for as
equity transactions.

Upon issuance of shares, the consideration received is included in
equity.

Transaction costs incurred by the Company in issuing or acquiring
its own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction
from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have
been avoided.

Own equity instruments which are acquired are deducted from
equity and accounted for at amounts equal to the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs.

No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on the purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A
dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is accounted
for as a deduction from retained earnings. An interim dividend is
recognised directly as a liability in the period in which it is irrevocably
declared by the Board of Directors. A final dividend is recognised as
a liability in the period in which it is approved by the annual general
meeting of shareholders.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Company operates.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

The Company is exempted from all forms of taxation in Cayman
Islands, including income, capital gains and withholding taxes.
However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital
gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the
income. Withholding tax is a generic term used for the amount of
withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Company
presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment
income in profit or loss.
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102

POLICIES (Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Hong
Kong dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Company’s performance
is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the Hong Kong dollar is considered as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

Foreign currency translations

Foreign currency transactions during the Year are translated at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising from translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign currency transactions gains and losses on financial
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
included in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income
as part of the “Net change in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Foreign exchange
differences on other financial instruments are included in profit
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income as “Foreign
exchange gains/loss, net”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern
basis.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Company. These changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, 3. EARGTHE - B RER
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued) (18)
Estimates and assumptions (Continued) fhEt RERE& (&)

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex
tax regulations and changes in tax laws on foreign withholding
tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Company
establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective
jurisdiction in which it invests. The amounts of these provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation
may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in the respective domicile of investments.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised into business
units based on the categories of investments. During the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

Listed securities — Investments in equity securities listed on relevant
stock exchange

Unlisted securities — Investments in private equity funds and private
equities

The geographical analysis of Company’s turnover and segment
results by geographical areas for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 is not presented as significant transactions of the
Company are mainly based in Hong Kong.

Further details of the Company’s investments are included in Note 6
and Note 16.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFHEFR (E)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Company’s results by operating AT AREE DI DB ARA R EEM
segment: EZ o
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Unallocated Total
ik 2 FLmHEH AOE Foh
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z2019F 12 A31 AILEE

Segment revenue SEWA 72,785 5,373,975 933 5,447,693
Segment results DEEE (17,178,072) (3,296,025) = (20,474,097)
Bank interest income RITFBYA 933
Unallocated expenses FOERY (13,597,776)
Loss before tax BRRIEE (34,070,940)
Listed Unlisted

securities securities Unallocated Total

LmEH FLEMESH AAB Bt

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z2018F 12 A31 AL FE

Segment revenue RN 4,116,000 5,286,986 572 9,403,558
Segment results NEEE (55,476,713)  (15,641,684) - (71,118,397)
Bank interest income BITFEHA 572
Unallocated expenses ROEAE (21,841,612)
Loss before tax BT AIE (92,959,437)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, segment
results represented the net gain or losses on fair values of listed
equity securities, unlisted private equity funds and private equities
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
the corresponding interest income, dividend income as well as
income from profit guarantee earned by each segment without the
allocation of administrative expenses, finance costs, interest income
from bank deposits and the Investment Manager's fees.

As management considers the Company’s nature of business to be
investment trading and there are no major customers, accordingly no
information regarding major customers is presented.

The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets and liabilities by
operating segment:

Y
i

SEDREFR (&)

HZE2019F K 2018412 A31H I
B DEEEESERARATHEERIE
@WIRCZEREE EMEREFAR
FLEMAERERES RALEREATE
Wz sk B 18 F 58 RABFE R B ~ AR B
WA R & 5 SRR ER 2 i AR B UL A -
TEFRITBAZ - BB ARRITER
FMEWAUNRKEERABRADE -

HRERERRARFNEBLE /RR
BESATEITERF SHEZ2IE
MEEEFHER -

AT RZREEDMEIDHARREER
BEMEZD

Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EhmEH FEmESE #Et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2019 R2019% 12 A31H
Segment assets: DEERE -
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEEBEBERIEZ
through profit or loss SRIEE 46,483,968 24,383,000 70,866,968
Unallocated assets ROBLEE 1,205,538
Total assets BERE 72,072,506
Liabilities: BiE:
Unallocated liabilities Ao BE 10,631,106
Total liabilities iR 10,631,106
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFHEFR (E)
(Continued)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
&S ELMES st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT ame BT
As at 31 December 2018 2018412 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEEE -
Financial assets at fair value AV EEBERYEZ
through profit or loss TREE 52,803,636 33,053,000 85,856,636
Unallocated assets AOEREE 5,839,664
Total assets BEME 91,696,300
Liabilities: BfE:
Unallocated liabilities ApoEafE 18,529,266
Total liabilities ABfREE 18,529,266
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating FEEIE IR N D HEEEEIRM

resources between segments, all assets are allocated to reportable

segments other than right-of-use asset, deposits, prepayments,

amount due from brokers and cash and cash equivalents.

= OREAEERE RE BAE-E

W s A5

KIEA R IR e MRS FEI -

MBEEELDEEA2HO M
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5. REVENUE 5 WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHTIAT -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Dividend income from listed IESESFREWA
equity security 72,785 4,116,000
Dividend income from private equity FLE IR B A - 1,599,998
Bank interest income RITH EHA 933 572
Income from profit guarantee (Note) i ) AR 78 A (B E) 5,373,975 3,686,988
5,447,693 9,403,558
Note: Income from profit guarantee relates to amounts received and receivable in B EE « o FR B U S RAR IR A8 B8 177 8 i 40
respect of a private equity investment in Hong Kong under the profit guarantee IR B IRTRL B B L B IR AR IR & U % FE U Y
terms set out in the relevant agreement. FKRIH °
6. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 6. RAFEZBERIEZTH
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BEEZERESR
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EHEE FEmES et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended HZE2019F12H31H
31 December 2019 IEFE
Net realised loss on financial BATEEBIERYEY
assets at fair value through TREECDEREE
profit or loss FHE (22,826,270) (37,500,000) (60,326,270)
Net unrealised gain on financial R AFAFEBEZIIEZ
assets at fair value through TREERER NG
profit or loss ikl 5,575,413 28,830,000 34,405,413
Total of net realised and FFABEEEBER
unrealised loss included RERBIERTH
in profit or loss (17,250,857) (8,670,000) (25,920,857)
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6. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 6. EAFEZEBERIEREZEH
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) EEZEEFE(E)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EWmESE FELETES HRET
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the year ended B ZE2018F 12 A31H
31 December 2018 HFE

Net realised (loss)/gain on financial Z A F{EBEBIEZYIEZ

assets at fair value through TREECEIE (BE)/

profit or loss Wzt FaE (30,057,839) 14,585,951 (15,471,888)
Net unrealised loss on financial BRATEFEBERIEZ

assets at fair value through TREERERES

profit or loss R (29,534,874) (35,514,621) (65,049,495)
Total of net realised and FFABRZEERR

unrealised loss included REBEIBRLRFE

in profit or loss (59,592,713) (20,928,670) (80,521,383)
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Company’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

BR B A &5 1R

AR ZBR AT BB AR HAER LA T & IR

EE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$ HK$
BT BT

(@)  Finance costs (@) BIFEAAR
Interest on other borrowings HitngEFE 1,212,495 1,019,901
Interest on notes and borrowings ZFEREERNER = 1,823,091
Interest on lease liability HEBEME 4,469 -
1,216,964 2,842,992

(b)  Other items (b)y EMIAE

Staff cost (excluding directors’ BIRA(TBIEES

remuneration and share-based B R B 0 < 70

payment) 3,370,125 2,699,065
Investment management fee BEEEE M)

(Note 11) 960,000 960,000
Foreign exchange loss, net HNE IR - FEE 99,588 44,472
Auditors’ remuneration ZERD B & 500,000 730,000
Minimum operating lease payments in BRAYE &KL

respect of properties HERK - 561,294
Lease payments not included in the FEMHEAARIR

measurement of lease liability FFAREER R 213,951 -
Consultancy fee Sk 63,000 756,000
Legal and professional fees FEERBEATER 983,341 2,168,369
Commission and other charges HekEMmER 301,510 5,672,160
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEENE 99,975 -
Equity-settled share-based payment LA 35 45 B B AR 1 1,117,000 =
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the Year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
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8. EEME

REEHRA - FB QA ERHIE 383(1)
@ b QEOEERR (WEESF
BEMBROIFE2H TARBEZAFEE

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: =MemT -
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Fees e 1,289,050 1,356,000
1,289,050 1,356,000

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

HE209F1NA3HLEFEERZREEN

2019 as follows: & -
Name of Directors Fees Bonus Total
EspR e ALF st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Gu Xu BBt 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREETE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Lam Chun Ho MIRR &4
(Resigned on 5 June 2019) (20194 6 A5 HEHT) 50,050 - 50,050
50,050 - 50,050
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi AL 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim REREE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boquan Bizks
(Appointed on 5 June 2019) (R2019F 6 A5 AEZRT) 66,950 - 66,950
Mr. Pun Tit Shan % 15 3 o
(Resigned on 5 June 2019) (20194 6 A5 BEE) 50,050 - 50,050
351,000 - 351,000
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. ExM= (&
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December HE2018F N2 A3IBLEFESESEN
2018 as follows: MemT :
Name of Directors Fees Bonus Total
EE e il et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Gu Xu Y bt 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REELE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Lam Chun Ho MWRZE L4
(Redesignated on 25 April 2018) (201844 A25 AFE) 117,000 - 117,000
117,000 - 117,000
Independent non-executive BYFHITES
directors
Mr. Pun Tat Shan & A 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HEILE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RUEREE
(Appointed on 10 October 2018) (M2018F 10 10 R EZ ) 26,419 - 26,419
Mr. Faris lbrahim Taha Ayoub Faris Ibrahim Taha Ayoub % &
(Resigned on 10 October 2018) (720184 10 A 10 HE# L) 90,581 - 90,581
351,000 - 351,000
Fees paid to or for the executive directors are generally emoluments FHTESIMNHNER —RAHEIEAR
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the NEIEBEBAORBOMWNE - LR
management of the affairs of the Company. The non-executive and FHITESEBIYIERTESTANES =
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above 2 REEERARRZESMRENR
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company. 7 o
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
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9. EEBAFEX

2019 2018

2019 % 20184

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, wages and allowances e - TENMERL 3,283,348 2,625,677
Retirement benefit expenses RREFIF X

— Defined contribution plan — EREH ARSI 86,777 73,388

Equity-settled share based payment VAR 2R 45 B R0 19 31 1,117,000 -

4,487,125 2,699,065

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to the
MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Company (the employer) and its
Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, as defined in the MPF
Schemes Ordinance. Both the Company and its employees” monthly
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and contributions
beyond these amounts are voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested upon payment.

As at 31 December 2019, there were no forfeited contributions
(2018: Nil).

ARFREBRHIMEAES (BES))H
VG DIR R E - EEE B A AT
I o 3878 EHEIURIR A TR © 3B 15
AT -

ES
EL
E-
=

-

RigmBEeE . Aom (BX) REE
BREEEBREASARREEHBEA CEE
Heafae st 81&D1) 5% Maxat 8IFH #
Ko ANRBREREE S AHEKIA500%
TRRS LR BHAEBSBEAHEKA
BERILE - #HEAREEERNES -

M2019412 A31 8 @ #HEHZE LI
(20184 : 4#) o
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. A BRSHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the Year included two AEEhEGRRTHNEEREMEES
Directors (2018: two Directors), details of whose remunerations are (20184F - MBEH) » WEWMFHNFES
set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the Year of A LIRS e WIHARFEEKEE
the remaining three (2018: three) highest paid employees who are THRABMESB=F(2018F : =&) &
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: SHWEENERFEHMEFEOT ¢
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & - 2BE R EWIEF 2,616,051 2,004,648
Retirement benefit expenses RIREFIF X
— Defined contribution plan —E RS RETE 54,000 43,097
2,670,051 2,047,745
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid EEENIIETETRAESSHTMES
employees whose remuneration fall within the following bands are HEMENTSHEM AT :
as follows:

Number of individuals

AE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7 7T, 2 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 L&
1,500,000 7T 1 1
3 3
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11. FEES

Administration fee

Amicorp Hong Kong Limited is entitled to receive an administration
fee which is calculated based on the net asset value of the Company
at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.11% per annum. With effect
from 1 October 2019, Amicorp Hong Kong Limited transfers all its
rights and obligations to Amicorp Fund Services Asia Limited (the
“Administrator”) as a part of internal reorganisation.

The administration fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
USD8,000 plus 7% disbursement charge for the period from 1
January 2019 to 31 May 2019 and USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement
charge from 1 June 2019 (2018: USD8,000 plus 7% disbursement
charge) and is payable monthly in arrears.

The administration fee for the Year is HK$570,322 (2018:
HK$817,711). As at 31 December 2019, an administration fee of
HK$66,870 (2018: HK$67,041) was payable to the Administrator.

Custodian fee

The Company had terminated the custodian agreement with
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch (the “Deutsche Bank
Custodian Agreement”) effective on 15 August 2019 and entered
into a new custodian agreement with Bank of Communications
Trustee Limited (the “Custodian”).

Under the new custodian agreement, the Custodian is entitled to
a custodian fee which is calculated based on the net asset value
of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.04% per
annum. The custodian fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
HK$12,500 and is payable monthly in arrears.

Prior to the termination of the Deutsche Bank Custodian Agreement,
Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch was entitled to receive a
custodian fee which was calculated based on the net asset value
of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.02% per
annum. The custodian fee was subject to a monthly minimum fee
of USD2,500 for the period from 1 January 2018 to 30 September
2018 and USD3,750 from 1 October 2018 and was payable monthly
in arrears.
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& :8,0003ETTIN7% S HE) YR KAR
BAAKRST -

REFTHERE /570,322 87T (2018
F 817,718 7T) » 12019412 A 31
B {TRERE 566,870/ (20184 ¢
67,0418 70) BN TITHEREA °

AER
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11.

12.

FEES (Continued)

1. EFH (@)

Custodian fee (Continued) EEE (')
The custodian fee for the Year is HK$288,677 (2018: HK$264,895). KNEEEEE /288,677 87T (20184 ¢
As at 31 December 2019, a custodian fee of HK$25,094 (2018: 264,895/ 70) ° 1R2019F 12 A31H -

HK$29,370) was payable to the Custodian.

LB & 25,0947 7T (20184F : 29,3707
TO) ERFREEA -

Management fee BEEE
The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of KEEEABRKMEBAEEER
HK$80,000 (2018: HK$80,000) and payable monthly in arrears. 80,0008 7T (2018 4F : 80,000 7T) K78

ISERDSIES AN

The management fee for the Year is HK$960,000 (2018: REFEEIRE 5 960,00078 7T (2018 4F -
HK$960,000). As at 31 December 2019, management fee of 960,000/% 7T) ° 2019412 A31H -
HK$160,000 (2018: HK$80,000) was payable to the Investment EI2E 160,00078 7T (2018 4F : 80,0005
Manager. TN TIREEEA o

TAXATION 12. Hi1E

The major components of income tax charge for the years ended 31 HZE2019F12A31H K2018F12 A

December 2019 and 2018 are:

NELEFEMESHAXEERRD R

Current tax:
Hong Kong Profits tax
Deferred tax

Tax charge for the year
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12. TAXATION (Continued) 12. BE (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expenses applicable to loss before tax EREEBE ZBRMAIEEMMER 2
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is BRXEEERTEFE 2 HIEM Y
as follows: BRI
2019 2018
20196 20184F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss before tax R A B 1B (34,070,940) (92,959,437)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% RIEEBE16.5% st EHTHIE (5,621,705) (15,338,307)
Income not subject to tax RN 2 WA (5.689,199) (943,368)
Expenses not deductible for tax A MBI 288,935 10,927,084
Tax losses not recognised AERBIEEE 11,021,969 5,354,591
Tax charge at the effective rate of 16.5% IR EFEFE = 16.5% =1 E
HIAR X - -
Cayman Islands HEeHs
Under the current Cayman Islands law, there is no income tax, BEHSEE AR EME EERAFT
corporation tax, capital gains tax or any other kinds of tax on B AEH - BEREEH TR E A
profits or gains or tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax 18 58 B v ) sl W e AR BB E SRR o
currently in effect.
Effective from the date of incorporation of the Company, and for BAREFEMK 2 B+ FHREA
a period of twenty years, no law that is hereafter enacted in the S BE 2% B M E M B A INE
Cayman Islands imposing any tax on income will be levied on the IR IE AR 2 AR B EE -

Company.
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12.

13.

TAXATION (Continued)

Hong Kong

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the Company will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Company did not generate any assessable
profit for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

At the end of reporting period, the Company has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$498,000,000 (2018: approximately
HK$431,000,000) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share amount is
based on the Company’s loss of HK$34,070,940 (2018: loss of
HK$92,959,437) for the Year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the Year of 1,344,246,794 (2018:
1,076,494,078 ordinary shares).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2019 in arriving at diluted loss per share
as the outstanding share options of the Company had anti-dilutive
effect for the Year. No adjustment has been made to the basic loss
per share amounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 in arriving
at diluted loss per share as the Company had no potential ordinary
shares in issue during the year.
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14. LEASES

The Company as a lessee

The Company has lease contracts for office premises used in its
operations. Leases of office premises have lease terms of 2 years.
Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Company. The lease contract that
include extension or termination options which are not considered to
be exercisable by the Company.

(a) Right-of-use asset

The carrying amounts of the Company’s right-of-use asset and
the movements during the Year are as follows:

14. HE

RAFMEREBAA

ARBREBEREANMANETH
HESLY -MAMEHENHBS/MF -
—RME - ARANA AAEEASNA
TERLOMEHEERE HEANEA
FEHAS R IR B MAREEERR
AT HAARBIATEE

() FEREEE

ARFEREAEETERENE
BT

Right-of-use

asset

FEREEE

HK$

BT

As at 1 January 2019 201941 A 1H -
Additions NE 342,771
Depreciation charge TEMX (99,975)
As at 31 December 2019 72019412 A31 H 242,796

(b) Lease liability

The carrying amounts of lease liability and the movements
during the Year are as follows:

(b) HEEE

WA NS R EEEE RS
m :

Lease

liability

HEAE

HK$

BT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 2019561 A1 HEREE -
New leases EE 342,771
Payments (NE (86,285)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 201912 A31 BHEREE 256,486

Analysed into: v

Current portion mENEL 179,379
Non-current portion ERBNFL D 77,107
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 M2019F 12 A31 HEEEE 256,486
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. &

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (0 REZRIETHEENESHELT:
leases are as follow:

2019

2019

HK$

BT

Interest on lease liability HEABEMNE 4,469

Depreciation charge of right-of-use asset TRREAETEMX 99,975
Expense relating to short-term leases B HHEERERRX

(included in other operating expenses) GrAEMEERA) 213,951

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIB R R 4258 318,395

15. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND AMOUNTDUE 15. % - B HXEREWEL A

FROM BROKERS EQL|
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current: IERE
Deposits e 72,205 216,175
Current: mED
Prepayments TEfTRIE 283,437 564,493
Amount due from brokers JE Mo 48 42 AN FRIE 203,762 2,271,370
487,199 2,835,863
As at the end of the reporting period, none of the above receivables AR BISR - b il U Sk I8 3 4 48 B ok
is either past due or impaired. VERERS
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16. RAFEHZEBRBIIKR2EH

PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2019 2018
20196 20184F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity securities ITTEEES
—Hong Kong —&HB 37,961,240 48,612,324
Listed equity security FHRERES
— Australia — B 2,104,911 -
Suspended listed equity securities TREE LTERES
- Hong Kong —&BE 4,198,626 4,191,312
Suspended listed equity security EEEE LMERES
— Australia — BN 2,219,191 -
Investments in private equity "ERTLE R
— British Virgin Islands —RBRLHE 17,133,000 24,607,000
Investments in private equities B R L R
— Hong Kong — &8 7,250,000 8,446,000
70,866,968 85,856,636
The fair values of the listed equity securities, except for suspended TEEEz FTERESFIN LWk

listed equity securities, are determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of the
reporting period.

The fair values of the suspended listed equity securities as at 31
December 2019 were determined by the board of directors based
on the valuation report performed by independent qualified
professional valuer. The unrealised loss represented by the decline
in their fair values compared to their carrying amounts prior to the
suspension of the securities were recognised in profit or loss. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, an unrealised loss in respect of
fair value changes of suspended listed equity securities amounting
to HK$1,734,499 (2018: loss of HK$2,607,429) was recognised in
profit or loss, which was determined based on the valuation experts’
opinion about the fair values of these securities as at 31 December
2019.

| f>

i é‘%"?@)ﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁuﬂ%?&%ﬁﬁﬁé
WEMRMBHOTISREEE -

FEEE 2 FTERESFN2019F 12 A
BNBZAFENHESSREBISE
REEMEMETZEERSEE -RNE
FEFEEEMEQAFERREREZ
FERBENIBEARER - HZE2019F
NRANBLEFE HEEE FTHER
BHERNTEZERRFHEE,734,499
7570 (20184F © §5182,607,4297%8 L) X
BRAER  WBRBHEZRE @Z
LBEN2019F 12 A31H Z AFER
HEZRMET -
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. B A FEFEBRIERIEZ2EH

122

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted in an
active market. The fair value of the private equities at 31 December
2019 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
as at that date by independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Company. The valuation of the investments in
these private entities used discounted cash flow projections and
adjusted net assets value methods and are within level 3 of fair value
hierarchy. The most significant unobservable inputs are the rate of
return on the investment and forecasted future cash flows.

Net unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of HK$34,405,413 (2018: loss of HK$65,049,495) has been
recognised in profit or loss. The Company does not own or control
more than 20% of the voting rights in any one of these listed and
unlisted investments. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company
is not able to exercise any significant influence on the financial and
operating policies of these investee companies, and all of these
listed and unlisted investments are not regarded as associates of the
Company and are accounted for as financial assets through profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE2FERE 2 H15
BY THE COMPANY

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December 7201912 A318  AARIRE LW
2019 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RAE 2 BEREEAFHERENFEN
follows: N

Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/

Proportion of attributable  receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost Value Company the Year  the Company
RLRES REAEE
REHRE EE/(8f) g/ EALR
FRELAREH ERHE ARERLH S il FE EhRE MHEEEMM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L AL AL
Financial assets at fair vale through
profit or loss
FATEEBERE 2 BEE
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
LaERRE-BE
Kin Pang Holdings Limited Note a 4.98% 19,852 10,263 MOP11.40 - 1424
millon
BEERBRAF iz 4.98% 19,852 10,263 RF% - 14.24
11,400,0007
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited Note b 4.97% 9,830 8,948 HK$3.13 - 1241
millon
EREEZRER LA i 497% 9830 8948 3,130,000 - 1241
BT
Power Financial Group Limited Note ¢ 271% 15,159 6,803 HK$39.75 - 9.5
millon
EeREEARAT itz 271% 15,159 6,863 39,750,000 - 952
B
Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited Note d 1.95% 6,697 4,953 RMB71.08 - 6.87
million
e EEFARERAA iz d 1.95% 6,697 4953 AEE - 6.87
71,080,000
Town Health International Medical Note e 0.39% 41,835 3173 HK$15.66 73 440
Group Limited million
(Suspended as at 31 December 2019)
RRERBEEEARAT fize 039% 4183 3173 15,660,000 IE] 440
(R2019% 12731 HEREE) BT
InvesTech Holdings Limited Note f 1.08% 3,167 2,754 RMB7.86 - 382
million
HAERERAA fisEf 1.08% 3167 2,754 AR® - 38
7,860,0007
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE2FERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable  receivable % of gross
investee’s Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost Value Company the Year  the Company
ARAEE REEE
BEARE gE/(BR) g/ AR
FREATEH FHME AREALH S e BE ks SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAL TERL
Financial assets at fair vale through
profit or loss (Continueq)
EAFEFERENE EREE(8)
Listed equity securities - Australia
LhggREs - AN
Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding Note g 0.19% 3,961 2,219 RMBS5.40 - 3.08
Group Limited million
(Suspended as at 31 December 2019)
RAARRFERERARAT g 0.19% 3,961 2219 N - 308
(R2019% 12431 BEREE) 540000070
Crater Gold Mining Limited Note h 2.85% 2,669 2,105 AUD(0.03) - 292
million
Crater Gold Mining Limited Fisth 2.85% 2,609 2,105 (30,000) - 292
Lo
Private equity - British Virgin Islands
AERE-RBRLEE
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 15.53% 42,199 17,133 HK$23.53 - 377
corporate finance, asset millon
management and financial
adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidiaries
SReREEARAA REBRPENEEAENER 15.53% 42,799 17,133 23,530,000 - B7
AAEERLAREEREE B
Eag CRRE HEER
Ry heERREES
Private equity - Hong Kong
nERE-54
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in maney lending 19.95% 19,000 6,530 HK$14.46 = 9.06
business in Hong Kong million
EARBARAA REBUERERE 19.95% 19,000 6,530 14,460,000 - 9.06
B
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17. ?IK’L\;E%EZIEEEZ%%
]

M2018%F 12 A31H AR GIRE

17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December

2018 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RAENEFREEMBERENGTEN
follows: N
Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Narme of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost Value Company theyear  the Company
HER
BEFRELE KRFARE B/ Ex0E
FRENTIER $HBRE EALA s i EERE EUkRE HEEAMM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL
Financial assets at fair valle through
profit or loss
HATEE BRI SRAE
Listed equity securities
LigEES
Kin Pang Holdings Limited Engaged in the provision of building and 3.50% 16,314 14867 MOP7.33 - 1621
ancillary senvices millon
REARARAT UERUEREREERS 350% 16,314 14,867 L - 1621
7330,0007
Power Financial Group Limited Engaged in financial services businesses 4.54% 27563 10,744 HK$65.55 - 1.7
(Formerly known as Jun Yang millon
Financial Holdings Limited)
EpoRREARAA tEeRRERE 4.54% 21563 10,744 65,350,000 - 1.7
(NEEReRERERAR) AT
Evershine Group Holdings Limited Engaged in property development and 0.22% 5337 5099 HK$0.31 - 5.5%6
investment business millon
KREEARARAA KENZRERRERH 0.22% 5337 5,09 310,000 - 55
AT
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited Engaged in the design and development, 260% 8,672 4543 HK$2.00 - 49
manufacturing and distribution of watch million
products
EREEARARAT WERithRE BERNUTRER 260% 86712 458 2,000,000 - 495
AT
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

126

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market tothe during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost Value Company theyear  the Company
HER
EERRELT ADARLE B/ fEAR
FRELAEH FHReE BALH B [ EERE EhRE HEEEMM
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fin T Fin
Financial assets at fair valle through
proft or loss (Continued)
FLTEEEER 2 BEE(E)
Listed equity securities (Continued)
Lg% ()
China Construction Bank Corporation Provision of corporate and personal - 3317 3354 RMBA.11 - 3.66
banking senvices, conducting treasury million
business, the provision of asset
management, trustee, finance leasing,
investment banking, insurance and other
finandial services
PERRETRNARAA REAINEARGRE B2XK U - 331 3,354 AEE - 366
REBEER i 2RHE RE 4,110,007
i1 RBREME RS
Ching Life Insurance Company Limited Provides a range of insurance products, - 319 3228 RMBO.06 - 35
including individual and group life million
insurance, health insurance and accident
insurance products
PEASREROBRAT RUE-ZiIRRER BEEARERA - 3,19 38 AR - 352
ERE ERRRENRER 600007C
Town Health International Medical Engaged in the provision of healthcare and 0.39% 4183 314 HK$16.03 - 343
Group Limited dental senvices, managed care business million
(Suspended as at 31 December 2018) and beauty and cosmetic medicine
business
FRERERSEARAA KERUBRRERTHRY BRER 039% 4,83 314 16,030,000 - 8
(#2018512 831 REBEE) EE= 3 AT
Earthasia International Holdings Limited Engaged in landscape architecture in Hong 0.12% 1,750 238 HK$0.16 - 260
Kong, the Mainland China and the million
Philippins
AR ERERAA EER PEMMRFETUSRERT 0.12% 1750 2385 160,000 - 260
BT
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD

17. ARFRB2ETEREZFHE

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Dividend
Net asset received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market tothe during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost Value Company theyear  the Company
RER
ERFRELNT ALAEL B/ LN
FREQALE SHKE EALLA) LS [ EEFE EWRE BEEAMM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tz TiEx ThRL
Finandial assets at fair valle thiough
profitor loss (Continued)
RAFEEBREIEZEREE (B
Private equity - British Virgin Islands
hERE-ZBELRE
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of qualty brokerage, corporate 1752% 42,79 24,607 HK$26.92 - 2684
(Formerly known as Morris Global finance, asset management and million
Group Limited) financial adviser services to
institutional and individual investors in
Hong Kong and Mainland China through
its subsidlaries
SHEREEERAT (NREERAR  REERTEREEANBLTNE 17.52% £2,79 24,607 26,920,000 - 2684
£BARLT) BRUAREERIEEAL 0XR BT
£ BEERRUKERREEH
Private equity - Hong Kong
hERE-E4
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending business 19.95% 19,000 7210 HK$7.19 - 193
in Hong Kong milion
TAHBARLE RERISRERE 19.95% 19,000 7210 7,190,000 - 19
BT
HEFEBEREBR AR/ FH 2019
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Kin Pang Holdings Limited (Kin Pang) was incorporated in The Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(stock code: 1722). Kin Pang is principally engaged in the provision of building
and ancillary services.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the audited profit attributable
to shareholders of Kin Pang was approximately MOP14 million and its audited
net assets attributable to shareholders of Kin Pang was approximately MOP229
million.

Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (Hanvey Group) was incorporated in The
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (stock code: 8219). Hanvey Group is principally engaged in the
design and development, manufacturing and distribution of watch products.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the unaudited loss attributable
to shareholders of Hanvey Group was approximately HK$15 million and
its unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Hanvey Group was
approximately HK$63 million.

Power Financial Group Limited (Power Financial) was incorporated in Bermuda
and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(stock code: 397). Power Financial is principally engaged in financial services
businesses.

For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the unaudited profit attributable
to shareholders of Power Financial was approximately HK$3 million and its
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Power Financial was
approximately HK$1,467 million.

Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited (Century Ginwa) was incorporated in
Bermuda and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (stock code: 162). Century Ginwa is a Hong Kong-based
investment holding company principally engaged in store operation. Century
Ginwa operates through two segments. Department Stores and Shopping Malls
segment operates five department stores and a shopping mall. Supermarkets
segment operates seven supermarkets. Century Ginwa mainly operates
businesses in the west regions of China.

For the six months ended 30 September 2019, the unaudited loss attributable
to shareholders of Century Ginwa was approximately RMB290 million and
its unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of Century Ginwa was
approximately RMB3,645 million.

Town Health International Medical Group Limited (Town Health) was
incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 3886). Town Health is principally engaged
in the provision of healthcare and dental services, managed care business and
beauty and cosmetic medicine business.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the audited loss attributable to
shareholders of Town Health was approximately HK$8 million and its audited net
assets attributable to shareholders of Town Health was approximately HK$4,016
million.

Under the direction of the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC"), trading in
Town Health’s shares has been suspended since 27 November 2017.
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

)

InvesTech Holdings Limited (InvesTech) was incorporated in The Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong (stock code: 1087). InvesTech is an investment holding company which
principally engaged in the provision of network system integration including
the provision of network infrastructure solutions, network professional services
and mobile internet software of mobile office automation software business,
the network equipment rental business, the trading of telecommunications
equipment and money lending business.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the audited loss attributable
to shareholders of InvesTech was approximately RMB21 million and its audited
net assets attributable to shareholders of InvesTech was approximately RMB728
million.

Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding Group Limited (Dongfang Modern)
was incorporated in Australia and its shares are listed on Australian Securities
Exchange (stock code: DFM). Dongfang Modern is a holding company which
carries on business of cultivation and sales of navel oranges, pomelos, tangerines
and camellia located in the Ghanzhou in China.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the audited profit attributable
to shareholders of Dongfang Modern was approximately RMB405 million and
its audited net assets attributable to shareholders of Dongfang Modern was
approximately RMB2,843 million.

Under the direction of the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX"), trading in
Dongfang Modern’s shares has been suspended since 11 June 2019.

Crater Gold Mining Limited (Crater Gold Mining) was incorporated in Australia
and its shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: CGN).
Crater Gold Mining is a company engaged in producing gold and developing
gold and base metal projects in Papua New Guinea and Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2019, the unaudited loss attributable
to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining was approximately AUD3 million and its
unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining was
approximately AUD1T million.
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Crater Gold Mining Limited(Crater Gold
Mining) BRI GE MR BC ST - H AR 7ORIM B 5
R 5 £ (BRD AR - CGN) ° Crater Gold
Mining & — RN EM LN D RN
SEFEMARESEENSBHEANRA

HZ=2019F12A318 1L /<f@ A - Crater
Gold MininglE REME R EEXEBNO A
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18.

19.

20.

21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. e RBE£EE
2019 2018
2019 & 20184
HK$ HK$
BT T
Cash at banks RITIRE 403,338 2,787,626

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The cash at banks are placed with DBS Bank (Hong
Kong) Limited and Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the other payables and accruals
were non-interest-bearing and had an average term of less than
three months.

AMOUNT DUE TO BROKERS

As at 31 December 2019, amount due to brokers include
HK$8,718,501 (2018: HK$17,155,239) of margin payable to
brokers with interest rates at 12.125% per annum from 1 January
2019 to 31 October 2019 and 12% per annum from 1 November
2019 (2018: 12.125% per annum). As at 31 December 2019, the
Company had pledged Hong Kong listed securities of approximately
HK$40 million to secure the margin payables to the brokers (2018:
approximately HK$48 million).

AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the amount due to a related
company represented management fee payable to the Investment
Manager. The amount is non-interest-bearing and has a repayment
term of less than one month.
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s Share Option Scheme was adopted on 1 June 2015,
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The limit of the number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Details of the share options granted by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme to the employees of the Company and the
movement in such holdings during the Year were as follows:
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22. BB ESE

BN 2015E5 A28 HET ZIRE 7
A& PR\ TERESR  ARFER
MEETEIFR 2015F 6 A 1 HEERA -

RIE R T &) R T E A B AR hE T 2
REBEEFTFECEHRITEEREES
HITFEEGTRTCESFHRBERSE - T
BRBARRTEEBEITHBERNES
230% e

ARBAFERBERESEAAAF

BT

Number of share options
BREHR

Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding

as at Granted Exercised lapsed as at
Date of Exercise Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December % of
Participant grant period price 2019 the Year the Year the Year 2019 issued shares

R2019% R2019%
1818 AEE 128318 BRARR
2% RhAH xid ] ke HATE  AEERH REER /5% HATE Aokt
Employees 1972019 19/72019- 0.0798 - 27,764,934 - - 27,764,934 2.00

E& 18172029

The fair value of 27,764,934 share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme on 19 July 2019 was determined to be
approximately HK$1,117,000 with reference to a valuation
performed by an independent firm of professional valuer using a
binomial model. The Company recognised a share option expense
HK$1,117,000 (2018: Nil) during the year ended 31 December
2019. The inputs into the model included grant date share price
of HK$0.078, exercise price of HK$0.0798 per share, expected
volatility of 65.51% determined based on historical volatility of the
Company’s shares for the past 510 weeks, expected option life of ten
years, no expected dividend and estimated risk-free interest rate of
1.41%.

There is no vesting period of the share options granted and the
share options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 has an average
exercise price of HK$0.0798.

On 17 January 2020, an additional 13,882,467 share options was
granted by the Company to an employee with exercise price of
HK$0.065 per share. Therefore, at the date of approval of these
financial statements, the Company had 41,647,401 share options
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 3% of the Company’s shares in issue as of that date.

720194 7 A 19 HiIRIREE AR M AT 815
#)27,764,934 M EEREN A FELE
—XBUARMEEGHEMFER ZER
HAETHHEETE AL 1,117,000%8
T B E2019F 12 A31HIEEFE - AR
AIFER BB ER 1,117,000/ 7T (2018
FE)  cZEXMNBAZEBENED
HEAMREEA0.078 T  ITHEEM
0.07987 7T ~ TBHAK 18 65.51% (Jh R 1K
RABBDRBESI0ENE LI EM
EE)  TEHEEREFEI0F WETEH
IR B RAAETEERFIE1.41% o

BEENMERETESBE  KR2019
F12 A31 BRI RITE 2 EREN 1T
{8 /40.0798B T °

R2020F 1 A178 » ARalRA—%EES
FINZ 13,882,467 (B RS HE - 1T(E(E
AER0.0658 7T ° AL - REZFH R
RESE B - AR R H£E 41,647,401
19 18 R AR IR BB AR AE AT 8117 M R AR A -
HARANBRZBEEITRDAIZ% -
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23. ISSUED CAPITAL 23. ERITRAE
Number of Nominal
shares amount
v - gE| HE
HK$
BT
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
Ordinary shares of nominal amount 7201912 H31H
HK$0.01 each at 31 December 2019 FRREE. BT E B 1,388,246,794 13,882,468
Ordinary shares of nominal amount R2018%F 12 A31H
HK$0.01 each at 31 December 2018 SRAEE.0 BTy ik 1,168,246,794 11,682,468
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARIRAEEBM AT
follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
2R
RHEE BRITRE RO EER @zt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2018 20181 A1 H 778,831,198 389,415,599 255,273,132 644,688,731
Rights issue with bonus issue (Note (a)  #t A% ]2 AT B (FiT 5t (a) 389,415,596 194,707,798  (146,030,849) 48,676,949
Capital reduction (Note (b)) B AHIR, (B3 (b)) - (572,440,929) - (572,440,929)
Share issue expenses WA ETRE X - - (730,154) (730,154)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A31H R
1 January 2019 2019F1H1H 1,168,246,794 11,682,468 108,512,129 120,194,597
Placing of shares (Note (c)) FERH (K3 () 220,000,000 2,200,000 19,800,000 22,000,000
Share issue expenses B ETHY - - (771,694) (771,694)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 1,388,246,794 13,882,468 127,540,435 141,422,903
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23.

24,

25.

ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(@) On 27 March 2018, a total of 97,353,899 ordinary shares at par value of
HK$0.50 per share and 292,061,697 bonus shares were issued for a total cash
consideration, before the related issue expenses, of HK$48,676,949. The issued
and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to HK$584,123,397, before
deducting the rights issue expenses of HK$730,154.

(b) On 10 December 2018, the par value of each of the 1,168,246,794 issued
ordinary shares was reduced from HK$0.50 to HK$0.01 per issued ordinary
share by cancelling the paid up share capital to the extent of HK$0.49 per issued
ordinary share by way of a reduction of capital, so as to form issued new ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.01 each, the Company’s issued share capital of
HK$584,123,397 was reduced by HK$572,440,929 to HK$11,682,468.

(©) On 14 March 2019, a total of 220,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
were placed at a price of HK$0.10 per share (the “Placing Shares”) for a total
cash consideration, before the related issue expense, of HK$22,000,000. The
issued and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to HK$13,882,468
and resulted in a share premium of HK$19,800,000, before deducting the share
placement expense of HK$771,694. The net proceeds of the Placing Shares,
after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied for
the investment in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff
costs.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net assets
of the Company as at 31 December 2019 of HK$61,441,400 (2018:
HK$73,167,034) and on 1,388,246,794 ordinary shares being
in issue as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 1,168,246,794 ordinary
shares).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Company had the following
transactions with related parties during the Year:

Investment Manager - China Everbright Securities (HK)
Limited

The Investment Manager is responsible to manage, supervise and
direct the investment, disposition and re-investment of the assets of
the Company, on a discretionary basis, but subject to the investment
objective and restrictions of the Company. The Investment Manager
is entitled to receive management fees for its respective services in
terms of the agreement dated 30 December 2016. Details of the
fees to which the Investment Manager is entitled are provided in
Note 11 to the financial statements. The Directors consider the key
management personnel of the Company comprise of its Board of
Directors, whose remuneration is shown in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26. ZEHESEMIEA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EeBRTARNHREHRZREEBENR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
2019 20194
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAVE 'S 3
ERBHRIE B8R 2
ZEREE EREE #st
HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT
Financial assets included in deposits TAREMEREE - 72,205 72,205
Amount due from brokers JEW S 42 AFRIE - 203,762 203,762

Financial assets at fair value through BRRATEBERERFIRL

profit or loss SREE 70,866,968 - 70,866,968
Cash and cash equivalents RekAe%EE - 403,338 403,338
70,866,968 679,305 71,546,273

Financial liabilities cRMERE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
28 85 B A 51 BR
ZEMAE
HK$
BT
Other payables and accruals Hin et RIERETE R 1,496,119
Amount due to brokers FET A 42 A SRR 8,718,501
Amount due to a related company FET —FEREE A B3R IE 160,000
Lease liability HEAE 256,486
10,631,106
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

2018

Financial assets

26. RERE SR A (&)

20184

TREE

Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRTE biog 31
BB AT
JEREE SREE 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets included in deposits FAREMEREE - 216,175 216,175
Amount due from brokers RS 42 A 5R0R - 2,271,370 2,271,370
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEEBERIIEL
profit or loss CREE 85,856,636 - 85,856,636
Cash and cash equivalents BehBeEHE - 2,787,626 2,787,626
85,856,636 5275171 91,131,807
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
LB BH A AR T BR
ZeRmERE
HK$
B TT
Other payables and accruals HMENFIBERESE R 1,293,827
Amount due to brokers JE & 42 A FRIR 17,155,439
Amount due to a related company FES — R R &E R RIFkIE 80,000
18,529,266
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 27. A¥EFE
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) AFEZEH

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining RARMERATIEREERERS
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: BT HE 2 AFE -
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets F—H - EEKBERER
for identical assets or liabilities 358 ME CRETHE)
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input FEoR—HEKTF@ ABEEELH
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or ERTEREE BHATEHEZ
indirectly observable B ERR G E R
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level F=B—FEKFBABRTAIH
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement is RYE - BHAFEFEBEAN
unobservable AR

31 December 2019
201912 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8R E-& =& st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value BRATEEBERIIEL
through profit or loss: SREE:
Listed il
— Equity securities —EREs 40,066,151 - 6,417,817 46,483,968
Unlisted FLm
— Private equities —TLERE - - 24,383,000 24,383,000
40,066,151 - 30,800,817 70,866,968
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. AR EFE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) DAFEZSH(E)

31 December 2018
2018%F 12 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-1 £ E=8 st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value ROTHEEBERTIR
through profit or loss: EREE:
Listed i}
- Equity securities —BnER 48,612,324 - 4,191,312 52,803,636
Unlisted FLm
- Private equities — TR - - 33,053,000 33,053,000
48,612,324 - 37,244,312 85,856,636
When fair values of listed and quoted investments at the Wl E B LM EREERE LA
reporting date are based on quoted market prices in active FENAZRERT S LA 5 RE
market, without any deduction for transaction costs, the BEECIMIBRZZKA) - BIEE
instruments are within Level 1 of the hierarchy. TAMRERE 4 -
When fair values of equity securities at the reporting date MRmE s ERERF LA TE
represent quoted prices in market that are considered less REETNERTISHRE  HFE=
than active or consensus prices derived by third parties using FERBERN(TEEZ@RAE
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or HA AR EENTISEE T E
indirectly observable from market data, those equity securities R)GHAOHS IZTABNSE
are included within Level 2 of the hierarchy. BEZR -
For all other financial instruments, the Company determines MABEEMERIAMS - AQ7A
fair value using valuation techniques. EREERNEERTE -
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Valuations are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of
the Company. The valuation of investments in the suspended
listed equity securities, private equity funds and the private
equities are performed by management of the Company and
reviewed by the investment committee of the Company. The
investment committee considers the appropriateness of the
valuation method and inputs, and may request alternative
valuation methods applied to support the valuation arising
from the method chosen. Any changes in valuation methods
are discussed and agreed with the Company’s Board of
Directors.

The fair value of suspended investments which do not resume
trading in a short period of time subsequent to year end, for
which there is an absence of quoted price, was estimated by
the management using guideline publicly traded comparable
method (“GPTC") or adjusted net assets value method, as
appropriate.

In the GPTC method, the fair value is based on prices of stocks
of similar companies which are trading in a public market. A
“value measure”, which is usually a multiple computed by
dividing the price of the guideline company’s stock as at the
valuation date by some relevant economic variable observed or
calculated from the guideline company’s financial statements,
is then applied to the investee’s economic variable and the
resultant valuation is then adjusted by a marketability discount
to arrive at the fair value measurement of the suspended
investments. Such valuation methods are generally accepted
in the industry. The model incorporates unobservable data
inputs, which include market value of invested capital multiples
and the marketability discount ratio, as described below.

The investments in the private equity funds are not quoted
in an active market. Transactions in such investments do
not occur on regular basis. The Company uses the net asset
values (“NAV") of the funds to determine the fair value of the
investments held as the Company determined that their NAV
were determined on a fair value basis and NAV per unit of
equity represented the price in which shareholders of the funds
could subscribe for and redeem from the funds.
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted
in an active market. The fair value of the private equities at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 have been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Company. The valuation of the investments in these private
entities used discounted cash flows (“DCF") projections under
income approach based on estimates made by management of
the Company and adjusted net assets value (“Adjusted NAV")
method under cost approach as appropriate and are within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

A DCF analysis involves forecasting the appropriate future cash
flow streams over an appropriate period and then discounting
it back to a present value at an appropriate discount rate.
This discount rate should consider the time value of money,
inflation, and the risk inherent in ownership of the asset or
security interest being valued.

The Adjusted NAV method calls for a summation of the fair
values of all assets belonging to an entity and a reduction of
that aggregate by the fair values of that entity’s total liabilities.
The fair value is represented by the adjusted book value of
total assets net of liabilities owed to any person other than the
beneficial owners of the subject company, after adjusting for
any necessary discounts or premiums to the book values of the
assets and liabilities to reflect their market values.
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. AR EFE (&)

140

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATFJBEEWABZEEER —
inputs — Level 3 =4

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTEE TUBEZHAEH
9t 8 DVE fEERN BAE WAEEE AVEZEEZ
HK$'000
THT
As at 31 December 2019
R2019612A31H
Equity securities in Hong Kong 3,173 Guideline Market value of 5.72  Higher the EBITDA,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method EBITDA
BERERES 3173 LMAALR FIREAZME 572 EBITDA#ME -
LIV e LA EBITDA NTEES
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
5 A 2 5% THRARMELS
AVESE
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
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27. A¥{EFE (&)

(a)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable

inputs - Level 3 (Continued)

DFEER ()

EATUBFEBABZEEER -

E=AR(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTEE TABERAESR
9t 8 DVE fEERN BAE BAEBE AVEZBR
HK$'000
TR
As at 31 December 2019
(Continued)

12019512 A31H (%)

Equity securities in Hong Kong 460  Guideline Market value of 0.57  Higher the Sales,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method Sales

ERRGES 460 FHAIELR FIiRER A 057 HEEHRF
185l% FIAHER ATEER

Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
mERBENE 75% THRBENELS
ATEBIE

Equity securities in Hong Kong 566 Adjusted net assets  Lack of control 75%  Higher the lack of
value method discount control discount,

lower the fair value

BRRGES 566 WHEEBEFENE RZEHETE 75% R ELIETELS

ATEBIE
Equity securities in Australia 2,219  Market approach Marketability 35%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value

BN E S 2219 THE mERBENE 35% WHERBENELS

ATEBIE
HEFEBEREBR AR/ FH 2019 141
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. X ¥{EFE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATFJBEEWABZEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTEE TUBEZHAER
9t 8 AYE HERN WAE WAEEE AVEZBEEZ
HK$'000
TERT
As at 31 December 2019
(Continued)
R2019%12 8318 ()
Unlisted equity securities 17,853  Discounted cash Discount rate for 15%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FELEmERES 17,853 BHRRER HRMEARERE 15% HREHS -
ZHBE ATEBIE
Discount rate 25% t030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
RIS E L 25%F30% ROTEREENGE
BRE e AFEME
Unlisted equity securities 6,530 Adjusted net assets  N/A NA  NA
value method
FriERSES 6530 REBEREHZ THEA NEm  AEm
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
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27. A¥{EFE (&)

(a)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable

inputs - Level 3 (Continued)

DFEER ()

EATUBFEBABZEEER -

E=AR(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTEE TUBEZHAER
9t 8 DVE fEERN BAE WAEEE AVEZBEEZ
HK$'000
TERT
As at 31 December 2018
R2018512A31H
Equity securities in Hong Kong 3,144 Guideline Market value of 5.63  Higher the EBITDA,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method EBITDA
BERERES 3144 EMAALR FIRERZHER 563 EBITDAME -
3% LAEBITDA ATEER
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
miGnmEE 5% THRBEMELS
AVESE
Equity securities in Hong Kong 480  Guideline Market value of 9.18  Higher the EBITDA,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method EBITDA
BRRERES 480 LtHAELER FRERZME 918 EBITDAME -
tHol& FLAEBITDA ATEHES
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
mERBENE 75% TMHSRBENELS
ATEBIE
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

27. A¥{EFE (&)

(a)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable
inputs - Level 3 (Continued)

DFEER ()

EATUBFEBABZEEER -

E=AR(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTEE TABERAESR
9t 8 DVE fEERN BAE BAEBE AVEZBR
HK$'000
TR
As at 31 December 2018
(Continued)
74201812 A318 (%)
Equity securities in Hong Kong 567 Adjusted net assets  Lack of control 75%  Higher the lack of
value method discount control discount,
lower the fair value
ERRGES 567 WMEEBEFENE RZEHETE 75% R EHIETELS
AV EBE
Unlisted equity securities 25,783  Discounted cash Discount rate for 14%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FLmERES 25783 HEHEER BREARERE 14% HREFS -
ZEBE AVESE
Discount rate 25% t030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
ROTERBIN 25%F30% HROTERAEORE
BRE R ATEBE
Unlisted equity securities 7,270  Adjusted net assets  N/A N/A  N/A
value method
FrERES 7210 REEEFERZE TEA TER TER

The fair value measurements of the investments in private

equities and suspended listed equity securities are recognised

as Level 3 fair value measurement.
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)
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Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during
the Year are as follows:

(a)

27. A¥{EFE (&)

DFEER ()

AFEESHATESELBH N
™

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 January ®n1A1H 37,244,312 113,366,362
Purchases EE - -
Sell HE - (52,585,950)
Transfer from level 1 to level 3 NE—BREREF =/ 3,643,900 -
Total loss recognised in profit and loss A8z MR 2 B 184258 (10,087,395) (23,536,100)
At 31 December ®12A31H 30,800,817 37,244,312

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the total
gains or losses recognised, including those for assets held at
the end of reporting period, are presented in profit or loss
in “net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss”.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company reclassified one listed
equity security from Level 1 to Level 3 following the suspension
of trading of the investment. The financial asset is namely
Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding Group Limited.

Transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy, are deemed to

have occurred at the end of the reporting period.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of fair
value measurement.

AIRAHEERBRIIRZERE
EME  DERAZWSHERAER
(BRERBERRABZEEELZ
Wan sk B8 ) IR BEA 2B
NHEBEBBSIRZ CREER
Bl -

M2019F12 A31 8 » RRABRE
BEERSH%  B— X EhiEsE
FHE-—REFPBEARE=-F S
MEEDNBRABRBREZREER
BRARBTEE °

RHEERERZHOBBRR S
R|BEMRDEE -

F—RRFE_H AW EERENF
B -
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a)

The following table shows the total amount of all transfers of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss from Level 1
to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

27. A¥{EFE (&)

DFEER ()

TREINMBRAFERBRE R
BREFE-ANRATFEEBERR
SRz B EMRR

Transfer from Level 1 to Level 3

RE-REBREE=H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Financial assets at fair value through ERAFEERERYIE
profit or loss ZEMEE
— Listed equity security — FMERES 3,643,900 -

The amount shown above represented the fair values based on
last traded price of the security prior to trade suspensions.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no
transfer of fair value measurement between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 fair value
measurements.

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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28. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

29.

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the Year, the Company had non-cash additions to lease

liability of HK$342,771, in respect of lease arrangements for

office premises (2018: HK$ Nil).

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Notes to Financial Statements
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28. HEREXRMETE

(a) FEFBELXH
RAFE  RARPHASWEMR
ETHELHEABERSAE
342,771 7T (20184 : BB L)

(b) REMEEFHZEESH

Lease liability Borrowings

HERE &

HK$ HK$

B TT BT

At 1 January 2019 R2019F1H1H - -
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEARENASED

lease liability (86,285) -

Non-cash movements FREEH 342,771 -

At 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A31H 256,486 -

At 1 January 2018 M201851 A1 H - 66,976,320

t& §Zﬁﬁ?%?k

EREE

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

rN

At 31 December 2018 2018412 A31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and
protection of shareholders’ value. The ultimate responsibility in
defining and maintaining the Company’s risk control framework,
setting the appropriate risk parameters for the Company and in
continuously monitoring compliance of the Company’s portfolio with
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions lies
with the Board of Directors of the Company, that will be advised by
the Investment Manager.

A risk committee consisting of executive director and an
independent non-executive director has been formed to monitor the
operational and portfolio risks to the Company. The risk committee
will monitor the Investment Manager including reviewing whether
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions
are being followed by the Investment Manager. In case of any
deviation, the risk committee will discuss deviations with the
Investment Manager immediately and monitor any agreed remedial
action. For all material deviations the risk committee will formulate
recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions
to be made. The risk committee will meet on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee
member.

- (66,976,320)

29. HEAREEEERBE

AREHERETE B 1R AE R RE R
REE AR T%%AEE ;E)Sﬂ%h
ARARHREBRIZEFER REAR
ERRBR2HRSERE %‘3$ TEI’\J&%S
HAENEREE B IR REER AL ER S
MBRETE REEEARLANESS
RHER -

ARBERYRBREES  KEBRIESH
TEENBIYIEFNTES MWWK

AMEERKREEARR RREES
BERGEEE ANKIR @%%ﬁ&
BEBABLTERTEBZERBERME
BRE - WATMRRE BREZES
BIES B2 IS & B 18 A 8 5 IR Bl 15 00 I BE 2%
ARERBENFERITE - WHMBEEKR
MREEL BRRZESERESIR
HEBEEmRITHNES - BBREE
egARe— X WEFARBRES S

BERANGEINTERSHRE -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29 BIERMEEREEREE ()

148

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Company is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
listed equity securities, equity securities investments in private equity
funds and investment in private equities which are classified in
the statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss in Note 16 as at the end of the reporting
period.

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates management’s best
estimate of the effect on the loss and net assets attributable to equity
holders of the Company due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices or fair values of the listed investments with all other
variables held constant. In practice, the actual trading results may
differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be
material.

Listed equity securities

The Company’s investments in listed equity securities are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Australian Securities Exchange.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of
the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the years were as follows:

IR R B E R

P SR B S R R 2 45 B R 15 SR K (B
EFEEEPMERNERESFLTE
TERER - RIEMRARBMESY
MR ERRERRE DB E RIS
B RERENBERLETHERES L
BEBREESANLSRERE RRTE
RARAERRAFEEBERAAS
BMEEIIRZALBZEERE (HE16) ©

N TBREIMIINEEMBEEBEE
RIFETENBERT  EREHRFZEH
FEMREZ AP EREAEESHFE
AREEaE B ARGEBRREEFE
e RER - EEET BERRS
BRIEGETNNHRENTAMTR
ERARGEKX -

L EE

ARBZ ETEEESFREIRE B
R NORMNESF R Z T L e

FRAEREHRRNRAR S B EEKH
RERE - THEFRZANTISRFEE
B UREARAFESEENER LRE
mEANE

31 December 2019
2019512 HA31H

High/low
&/ &

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB -BEEH 28,189.8  30,280.1/24,896.9
31 December 2018 High/low
2018412 A 31 H =/ 1K

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB -BEEH
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Listed equity securities (Continued)

2019

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

29.

IR R E A% A b ()
LR ES (F)
20195
% of reasonable

possible change
of the relevant

HHEREEEERBE (H)

Change in
loss and
net assets

Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
HBEEEREHEE BEREEZEEZD
HETSEY s AR BN E 2L (BRBLIE & AT
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index ~ &#& — B4 EH 0.276 +10 +1,443,078
2018 2018 4F
% of reasonable Change in
possible change loss and
of the relevant net assets
Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
EREEEHEE BEKEEFEE
TS & HE A EEHNE D (BREIE &)
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index &8 — B4 5 & 0.399 +10 +2,106,865
Private equity funds and private equities RERBEEZRALEBRE

At 31 December 2019, the loss (2018: loss) before tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$2,438,300 for the private
equities (2018: HK$3,305,300) should the fair values of the

investments increase/decrease by 10% (2018: 10%).

MR2019F 12 A31H  MKREZ AFE
PR B 10% (20184F : 10%) © FL&

Pt 2 B L BT S 1R

(20184 : &H18) » 7

A N492,438,300 7 7T (2018 4F -

3,305,300 7T) °
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES BREREEBEERBEEK (&)

150

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the
Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.
To limit this risk, management monitors the Company’s liquidity
position from time to time.

The Company aims to maintain sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements by the ongoing monitoring of cash positions and
future cash flows. The following table summarises the maturity
profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within six months equal their
carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant. The
table also analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s financial
assets (undiscounted where appropriate) in order to provide a
complete view of the Company’s contractual commitments and
liquidity.

The maturity grouping of financial liabilities is based on the
remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest
period in which the Company can be required to pay.

Analysis of equity securities at fair value through profit or loss into
maturity groupings is based on the expected date on which these
assets will be realised. For other assets, the analysis into maturity
groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the
expected date on which the assets will be realised.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29 BIERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REELEE (F)
At 31 December 2019 MR2019F12A31H
3to Contractual Total
Less than less than 1t05 Nofixed  undiscounted arrying
On demand 3months 12 months years maturity  cash flows amount
3EAE BEE AHARR
REX  HW3ER  HWNfER 125% 38R Reiig REAE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$

An An A An A B An

Financial assets included in deposits HAREHERHAE - - - 72,205 - - 72,205
Amount due from brokers BN AR 76,722 127,040 - - - - 203,762
Financial assets at fair value through RATEERARIE,

profit or loss PRAE 40,066,151 - - 6,417,817 24,383,000 - 10,866,968
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEA 403338 - - - - - 403,338
Totalfinancial assets SHAREE 40,546,211 121,000 - 6490022 24,383,000 - 1546273
Other payables and accruals Hﬁﬁﬁﬁml@&r HER - 149,119 - - - - 149,119
Amount due to brokers ERELA 8,718,501 - - - - - 8718501
Amount due to a related company e E’ﬂmlﬁ - 160,000 - - - - 160,000
Lease liability HERE - 44420 134,959 17,107 - 260,916 256,486
Total financial liabilities SREELE 8,718,501 1,700,539 134,959 77,107 - 260916 10,631,106
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29 BIERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REELEE (F)
At 31 December 2018 2018512 A31H
3t0 Contractual Total
Less than less than Tt05 Nofixed undiscounted carying
Ondemand 3 months 12 months years maturity  cash flows amount
3EAZE EAE AOKRR
BEX  OW3ER SR12(EAR 1255 I8 ReRE RELE
HKS HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS

AL AT AT BT AT AT BT

Financial assets included in deposits st AR EMEBEE - - - 216,175 - - 216,175
Amount due from a broker s \ZE - 2271370 - - - - 2271370
Financial assets at fair value through AT EZBERIEZ

profit or loss SHEE 48,612,324 - - 4191312 33,053,000 - 85,856,636
Cash and cash equivalents BeRRLER 2,787,626 - - - - - 2,787,626
Total financial assets SHEESR 51399950 2271370 - 4407487 33,053,000 - 91,131,807
Other payables and accruals EHERFERENER - 0327 - - 1,053,500 - 1093827
Amount due to brokers ERERE AR 13331731 3,823,708 - - - - 17,155,439
Amount due to arelated company BN —FEEAARE - 80,000 - - - - 80,000
Total financial liabilities cRARER 13331731 4,144,035 - - 1,053,500 - 18,529,266
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
and future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates.

The majority of the Company’s interest rate exposure arises from
cash and cash equivalents.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s
profit or loss for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the
profit or loss for the year (before tax) is the effect of the assumed
changes in interest rates on:

- The net interest for one year, based on the net cash position
held at the end of the reporting period.

In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the below
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be significant.

HHEREEEERBE (H)

2= = Bz

MEEBRECZETAMKKRSRERN
BEREE SN X LE MR BN R

ARAABHAEERKARE KRS
S8 -

TEHW R R R R RIS TRE -
ARAAFEIESH TR A AR
B0 SR o A S 1825 (B AT) BUR
BRIEIE G R RS TSR0

mhxm

— ERMEMRAEFEREMRZ —
FRN B -

FEL BEREXZEET EﬁiT it 5 R
Eﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬂﬁ%%?ﬁ@

Sensitivity  Sensitivity of

of interest changes in
Change in income/ fair value of
Net exposure basis point (expense)  investments
FIRWA/ RELTHE
R EN2® (XHHBE 2BNRRE
HK$ HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT
2019 20195
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBHe%E 403,338 £50 +2,017 =
2018 2018F
Cash and cash equivalents RekHe%E 2,787,626 +50 +13,938 -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29 BIERMEEREEREE ()

154

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Since
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the
Board of Directors considers the Company’s exposure to foreign
currency risk to be minimal; as such no sensitivity analysis has been
presented in these financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by the
Investment Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash
equivalents and investments placed with DBS Bank Limited, Public
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and Bank of Communication Trustee
Limited, which management believes is of high credit quality.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because most
of the receivable amounts are from the investments sold which will
be settled shortly after trade date.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations without taking into
account of any collateral held as at the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Capital management

As a result of the ability to issue and repurchase shares, the capital of
the Company can vary depending on subscriptions to the Company
and repurchases by the Company. The primary objectives of the
Company’s capital management are to safeguard the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to invest the capital in
investments meeting the description and risk exposure indicated
in the Company’s prospectus. The Investment Manager manages
the capital of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
investment objectives and policies. The Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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30.

31.

32.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed share consolidation, change in board lot size and
rights issue

The Company proposed a share consolidation of every four issued
and unissued existing shares of par value HK$0.01 each into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.04, the authorised share
capital of the Company will become HK$1,000,000,000 divided into
25,000,000,000 consolidated shares of HK$0.04 each, of which
347,061,698 consolidated shares will be in issue, the board lot size
for trading on the Stock Exchange from 20,000 existing shares to
10,000 consolidated shares conditional upon the share consolidation
becoming effective. The Company proposed to implement a rights
issue on the basis of one rights share for every one consolidated
share at the subscription price of HK$0.16 per rights share, to
raise proceeds of approximately HK$54.6 million after deducting
expenses. Details of the share consolidation, change in board lot size
and rights issue are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 3 March 2020 and circular dated 16 March 2020.

Coronavirus impact

Since early January 2020, the coronavirus outbreak has spread
across mainland China and beyond, causing disruption to business
and economic activity. The impact on fair value of the Company’s
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, GDP and other
key indicators will be considered when determining the severity
and likelihood of downside economic scenarios that will be used to
estimate the fair values of investments in 2020.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Summary of Financial Information
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Company AR FZAAEATBRFEE 7 EEREENAEB
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited #1Z (B0 B KEZMERE) HylwT
financial statements is set out below:

RESULTS E
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

BE20198  HZE2018F  EHZ2017F  #HZE2016F  HE2015F
128318 12A318 12318 12A318 12A318

LEE LEE ItEE ILEE ITFE
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
REVENUE N 5,447,693 9,403,558 821,073 2,470,078 10,945,842
PROFIT/ALOSS) BEFORE TAX BEREF (FEB) (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)  (509,376,596) 57,041,138  (204,133,713)
Income Tax FEH - - (1,361,062) (9,167,538) 34,597,597
PROFIT/LOSS) AND TOTAL AREEBEREEA
COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FEEERER/(EB)
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO L@ (BR),/ Wik
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF aE
THE COMPANY (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)  (510,737,658) 47,873,600  (169,536,116)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20195 20184 20174 2016 F 20155
HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
TOTAL ASSETS BERE 72,072,506 91,686,300 192,596,874 716,278,353 340,069,316
TOTAL LIABILITIES BlEEE (10,631,106)  (18,529,266)  (74,417,198)  (248,404,588)  (15,386,255)

61,441,400 73,167,034 118,179,676 467,873,765 324,683,061
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